

Wayne State University

Wayne State University Theses

January 2021

Oral Cbd Administration: Assessing Bioavailability And Behavioral Outcomes In A Rodent Model

Jordan Skully *Wayne State University*

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.wayne.edu/oa_theses

Part of the Behavioral Disciplines and Activities Commons, and the Neurosciences Commons

Recommended Citation

Skully, Jordan, "Oral Cbd Administration: Assessing Bioavailability And Behavioral Outcomes In A Rodent Model" (2021). *Wayne State University Theses*. 834. https://digitalcommons.wayne.edu/oa_theses/834

This Open Access Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by DigitalCommons@WayneState. It has been accepted for inclusion in Wayne State University Theses by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@WayneState.

ORAL CBD ADMINISTRATION: ASSESSING BIOAVAILABILITY AND BEHAVIORAL OUTCOMES IN A RODENT MODEL

by

JORDAN SKULLY

THESIS

Submitted to the Graduate School

of Wayne State University,

Detroit, Michigan

in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

MASTER OF ARTS

2021

MAJOR: PSYCHOLOGY (Behavioral & Cognitive Neuroscience)

Approved By:

Advisor

Date

© COPYRIGHT BY

JORDAN SKULLY

2021

All Rights Reserved

DEDICATION

This work is dedicated to my late mother Susan Skully, who passed before I could finalize my work. She was always my greatest support and only ever wanted the best for me. Having her in my corner drove me to achieve more than I ever thought possible. I intend to continue on that path, to continue to work hard day in and day out, to continue to make her proud of her son.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am eternally grateful for the support I received from my co-advisors Dr. Susanne Brummelte and Dr. Scott Bowen. They both provided unique insight, strong mentorship, and constructive feedback, all leading to my continued scholarly development. I would also like to thank my additional committee members Dr. Ana Daugherty and Dr. Shane Perrine for their advice and thorough evaluation of my work and the path it could take. A final thank you must go to my strong undergraduate research team. The work put forward by Alix Trombley, Ava Palopoli, Lauren Richardson, Usmaan Zunnu Rain, Nejra Kulaglic, Kristy Tilson, Yusuf Yasarlar, Chelsea Roberge, James Kina, Saadia Taj, and Brandon Brown was critical to the success of this research project. Everyone's passion for research, and reverence for their work should be admired. I am glad that I got to work on this project with all involved, I am proud of the effort everyone put forth, and I will always be indebted to all that supported me.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATION	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
LIST OF TABLES	vi
LIST OF FIGURES	vii
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Cannabidiol's Place in the Market	1
1.2 Pharmacokinetics of CBD	2
1.3 Mechanisms of Action	4
1.4 Behavioral Outcomes of CBD Usage	7
1.5 Aims of the Current Research Model	11
CHAPTER 2 METHODS	12
2.1 Animals and Group Assignment	12
2.2 General Characteristic Collection and Assessment	14
2.3 Drug Choice and Administration	14
2.4 Pharmacokinetic Profile Development	15
2.5 Behavioral Assessment	17
2.6 Euthanasia	20
2.7 Statistical Analyses	21
CHAPTER 3 RESULTS	25
3.1 General Characteristics	25
3.2 Pharmacokinetics	26
3.3 Behavioral Outcomes	26

CHAPTER 4 DISCUSSION	32
4.1 General Characteristic Development	32
4.2 Characteristics of CBD Bioavailability	34
4.3 CBD and Behavior	35
4.4 Strengths and Limitations	39
4.5 Dose Dependent Effects	42
4.6 Future Directions	46
4.7 Conclusion	47
REFERENCES	66
ABSTRACT	80
AUTOBIOGRAPHICAL STATEMENT	82

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Sample size per experimental condition	52
Table 2. Effect Size Comparisons	53

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. CBD mechanisms of action	49
Figure 2. Timeline of experimental procedures	50
2.1 Timeline representation of CBD administration and	50
saphenous blood draws for bioavailability assessment	
2.2 Timeline representation of CBD administration and	50
progression through the pain and sleep assays	
2.3 Timeline representation of CBD administration and	50
progression through the anxiety and stress assays	
Figure 3. Weight percent change by day by dose group	54
3.1 Cohort 2	54
3.2 Cohort 3	54
Figure 4. Means displayed represent temperature (°C) by day by dose group	55
4.1 Cohort 2	55
4.2 Cohort 3	55
Figure 5. Pharmacokinetic Curve	56
Figure 6. GEE, Hot plate latency (s) by day by dose group	57
Figure 7. Sleep Behavioral Assessment (0mg/kg vs 20mg/kg)	58
7.1. Distance traveled (cm) during sleep assessment by dose group	58
7.2. Number of entries into the state of inactivity by dose group	58
7.3. Cumulative time (s) spent in an inactive state by dose group	58
7.4. Latency to first inactive state (s) by dose group	58

Figure 8. Elevated Zero Maze Assessment (EZM) (0mg/kg vs 20mg/kg)	59
8.1. Distance traveled (cm) in the entirety of the EZM by dose group by day	59
8.2. Cumulative time (s) spent in the open arm of the EZM by dose by day	59
8.3. Average entries into the open arm of the EZM by dose group by day	59
Figure 9. Corticosterone levels (ng/ml) by dose by time of blood draw	60
Figure 10. Cohort 3 Hot plate latency (s) by dose group	61
Figure 11. Sleep Behavioral Assessment, Cohort 3	62
11.1. Distance traveled (cm) by dose group	62
11.2. Number of entries into the state of inactivity by dose group	62
11.3. Latency to first inactive state (s) by dose group	62
11.4. Time (s) spent in an inactive state by dose group	62
Figure 12. EZM Assessment for Cohort 3	63
12.1. Total distance traveled (cm) by dose group by day	63
12.2. Total time (s) spent in the open arm of the EZM by dose by day	63
12.3. Average entries into the open arm of the EZM by dose group by day	63
Figure 13. 40mg/kg dose of CBD lowered corticosterone levels in response to stress	64
Figure 14. CBD and TRPV1	65

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Cannabidiol's Place in the Market

Cannabis produces both psychedelic and medicinal effects and has become one of the most widely used recreational drugs (M. Lee & Hancox, 2011). While these effects are unique in nature, they are generally attributed to two of the main cannabinoids: delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) and cannabidiol (CBD). Despite widespread recreational and therapeutic popularity, cannabis remains a federally illicit drug in the U.S. However, regulations on isolated CBD have recently been loosened by Congress through labeling of the hemp-based derivative (<.03% THC concentration) as an agricultural commodity. Taking this hemp derived CBD out from under the schedule one classification of marijuana was introduced in the 2018 Farm Bill and has resulted in increased market presence of CBD. A wide variety of natural and synthetic CBD products now hold their fair share of the market: oral supplements (including pills, oils, and ingestible powders), topical solutions (ointments, body oils, and lotions), and various other options. However, inconsistencies in purity, quality, and CBD content or concentrations, highlight the need for more transparency in marketed CBD products. A once largely-ignored component of cannabis, CBD has recently entered the spotlight for its vast therapeutic potential without psychoactive effects. Hempderived CBD has been marketed as having a multitude of therapeutic properties, including anxiolysis, antinociception, anti-inflammation, and neuroprotection. There is a wide array of anecdotal support for such claims with minimal but expanding scientific backing in both humans (White, 2019) and rodents (Costa, Trovato, Comelli, Giagnoni, & Colleoni, 2007; Pagano et al., 2016; Zieba et al., 2019). Although there are many current studies that focus on the interaction of THC and CBD as found in different strains of cannabis, CBD's recent popularity spike as a safe and isolated supplement (Todd et al., 2017), guided research interests for this study.

1.2 Pharmacokinetics of CBD

First, it is essential to understand how CBD is processed in the body. Deiana et al. (2012) utilized both rat and mouse models to assess the concentration levels of varying cannabinoids, including CBD, in both blood plasma and in the brain. Oral or intraperitoneal (IP) administration of a single dose of 120 mg/kg CBD was analyzed over the course of 24 hours across six time points. For rats, Deiana et al. (2012) reported that CBD levels peaked at two hours after administration in plasma, had a half-life of approximately 4 hrs and was eliminated after 24 hours. CBD levels were shown to be substantially higher within the IP group compared to the oral dosing group, as CBD avoids first pass metabolism if given intraperitoneally. These findings were corroborated by Hložek et al. (2017), which utilized a 10 mg/kg dose of CBD and produced similar pharmacokinetic outcomes as it pertained to the absorption and elimination rate of CBD from the body. There was also an assessment of CBD in human plasma after administration through a nasal spray by Stott, White, Wright, Wilbraham, and Guy (2013), they administered CBD doses either as a single dose of 2, 4, or 8 sprays (2.5 mg CBD per spray) or repeatedly over 9 days. The single dose experiment resulted in CBD plasma concentration peaking after 2 hrs, almost clearing after 12 hrs, and was completely cleared from volunteer's plasma by the next day. The peak concentration of CBD within blood plasma also increased accordingly with the increase in the dose received by each volunteer. In the 9-day administration experiment though, there was some evidence of CBD accumulation with repeated dosing. After the last dose on the 9th day, CBD in blood plasma for 2 and 4 sprays a day still peaked at roughly the same max and at the same time. However, CBD concentration was not almost cleared by the 12th hour, and appeared to only be close to clearing at hour 24. When the CBD dose given was increased to 8 sprays a day, or 20mg of CBD, peak concentration in plasma increased and was not fully eliminated after 24 hrs. The results from the repeated dosing experiment would suggest some potential for CBD accumulation in the body that increases with an increase in CBD dose administered.

The idea that there is change in the pharmacokinetic profile of CBD between repeated dosing compared to a single dose is further supported by a study by Taylor, Gidal, Blakey, Tayo, and Morrison (2018). The focus of the study addressed a single ascending, and a repeating administration model of highly purified CBD in human volunteers. When a CBD dose of 1500mg was given as a single dose, concentration in blood plasma peaked around 300ng/ml at 4hrs, and decreased drastically over 24 hrs. A direct comparison of the 1500mg single dose administration to a 1500mg repeated administration reveals a stark increase in CBD concertation in blood after the second same day administration (increased to 1400ng/ml); as well as after the final dose after 7 days of CBD administration CBD in blood plasma remained above 100ng/ml over the course of the following 72 hrs. Another pertinent finding was that the two same day administrations of 1500mg of CBD generated a larger peak concentration in plasma (1400ng/ml) then of a single dose at a larger quantity (6000mg for 800ng/ml plasma concertation). The findings of Taylor et al. (2018) would support the idea that CBD can accumulate in the body as a result of repeated exposure, changing the rate at which CBD is metabolized. Taylor et al. (2018) also evaluated the effects of food consumption on CBD concentration: CBD in blood plasma was shown to be elevated in volunteers who had eaten versus those who had fasted by a roughly 4x increase. This unique and counterintuitive effect of food consumption on CBD bioavailability would suggest that the ability for CBD to be metabolized may be influenced by its lipophilic nature. As a whole, CBD's absorption, metabolism, and elimination may be dependent on dose, dose schedule, as well as the eating behaviors of the subject.

Studies of both animals and humans indicate a bell-shaped dose-response curve of isolated CBD. Research has also conveyed the difficulty of interpreting rodent metabolism for human consumption, supporting the need for rigorous evaluation to ensure adequate translation from research to clinical applications (Alline Cristina Campos & Guimarães, 2009; Linares et al., 2019). The routes of administration in preclinical research largely consisted of injections, with limited focus on oral and topical administrations that are consistent with CBD products commonly found on the market today. CBD's pharmacological properties and pharmacokinetics appear to vary with different routes of administration as well as with the length of the dosing regimen. Inconsistencies in CBD's pharmacokinetic profile makes it difficult to evaluate the most appropriate CBD dosing for the production of therapeutic outcomes in the treatment of clinical conditions (Zhornitsky & Potvin, 2012), but open up several avenues of research interest.

1.3 Mechanisms of Action

The mechanisms of action underlying the physiological and biochemical activities of CBD are not very well understood. There may be a ubiquitous number of receptor binding sites, systems, and pathways leading to many various outcomes as shown in Figure 1 (Peres et al., 2018). CBD has a multitude of agonistic, antagonistic, and negative allosteric interactions with a plethora of different systems and receptor sites (Peres et al., 2018). A system commonly addressed for its interactions with CBD is the endocannabinoid system. Cannabinoids, such as THC, bind directly to endocannabinoid receptors known as type 1 and type 2 cannabinoid G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs), CB1 and CB2 (Kumar, 2018), in both the central (CNS) and peripheral nervous system (PNS). However, studies have shown that CBD possesses a low affinity for CB1 and CB2 receptors (Mcpartland, Glass, & Pertwee, 2007) and other studies revealed potential antagonistic effects of CBD at these receptor sites (Thomas et al., 2007). CBD has also been shown to behave as a non-

competitive negative allosteric modulator of the CB1 receptor, reducing the efficacy and potency of THC (Vučković, Srebro, Vujović, Vučetić, & Prostran, 2018). CB1 receptors are abundant throughout the CNS, particularly in nociception areas in the brain and spinal cord (Tsou, Brown, Sañudo-Peña, Mackie, & Walker, 1998). CB1 receptors are also present in the immune system, adipose tissue, liver, muscle, reproductive, kidney and lung cells (Herkenham, 1994). CB2 receptors are present mainly in the PNS and are common in lymph, immune, heart and liver cells (Corroon & Felice, 2019). CBD's lack of a direct interaction with these sites, only increases the need for improved understanding of its mechanism of action.

CBD also interacts directly with several other systems throughout the body that have led to its declared health benefits, including transient receptor potential vanilloid type 1 (TRPV1), serotonin (5-HT1) and dopamine systems (Jesus et al., 2019). Sharing significant overlap with the functions of the endocannabinoid system (Corroon & Felice, 2019), serotonin receptors are involved in various biological activities such as pain perception (Sommer, 2004), stress regulation (Haj-Dahmane & Shen, 2011), anxiety (Banchereau & Steinman, 1998) and sleep (Frazer & Hensler, 1999). CBD acts as an agonist at the 5-HT1a receptor in humans, and recent work suggests that the endocannabinoid and serotonergic systems interact to regulate stress response (Haj-Dahmane & Shen, 2011; Russo, Burnett, Hall, & Parker, 2005). The 5-HT1a receptor has also been implicated in anti-depressive like effects in an acute and chronic administration in the olfactory bulbectomy mouse model of depression (OBX) (Linge et al., 2016). There is still further work needed to assess how CBD's anxiolytic effects could be mediated by any or multiple receptors of either CB1R, 5-HT1a, or TRPV1 (Blessing, Steenkamp, Manzanares, & Marmar, 2015). CBD has also been shown to induce antipsychotic properties and reduce oxidative stress

through its interaction with the mesolimbic dopamine system (Pedrazzi, Issy, Gomes, Guimarães, & Del-Bel, 2015; Renard et al., 2016; Valvassori et al., 2011).

CBD is also a full agonist of TRPV1, (Iannotti et al., 2014), a non-selective transmembrane cation channel which is expressed mainly in sensory nerves. Stimulation of TRPV1 receptor channels is generally provoked by a variety of noxious stimuli such as heat, inflammation, etc. usually leading to sensory nerves interpreting pain and thermal hyperalgesia. This sensory nerve outcome coincides with the neurotrophic factors (NTFs) NGF and GDNF being increased in tissues under painful conditions, which have a sensitizing effect on sensory neurons via TRPV1 (Anand et al., 2020). TRPV1 receptor stimulation typically results in pain and neurogenic inflammation. Thus, CBD's agonistic effect at the receptor site may be expected to induce pain rather than inhibit it (Jia, McLeod, & Hey, 2005). However, studies have found that certain agonists of TRPV1, including CBD, inhibited pain expression (Starowicz, Cristino, & Di Marzo, 2008). One explanation of this paradoxical effect may be that CBD-induced chronic activation of a TRPV-1 receptor results in rapid desensitization. This rapid desensitization of TRPV1 could potentially be due to 2 synergistic pathways. One pathway could be through blocking cAMP which has a role in TRPV1 sensitization through phosphorylation via activation of protein kinase A. A second pathway could be through increasing the presence of Calcineurin which is responsible for protein dephosphorylation (Anand et al., 2020). In addition to apparent analgesic and antiinflammatory properties, stimulation of TRPV1 receptors in the dorsal hippocampus of rodents has been shown to modulate anxiety-like behaviors (Hakimizadeh, Oryan, Hajizadeh moghaddam, Shamsizadeh, & Roohbakhsh, 2012).

CBD can also act via indirect pathways, which can lead to several downstream effects. For instance, CBD can contribute to increased levels of the endocannabinoid anandamide by inhibiting

anandamide's catabolic enzyme fatty acid amide hydrolase (FAAH). Inhibition of FAAH in turn can result in increased activation of CB1, CB2, and TRPV1 receptors by anandamide. CBD can also increase the activity of mitochondrial complexes, and of creatine kinase (Valvassori et al., 2013). Mitochondria are the primary source of adenosine triphosphate (ATP), while creatine kinase catalyzes the reversible transphosphorylation of creatine by ATP. Both Mitochondria and Creatine Kinase play significant roles in maintaining ATP homeostasis. In addition, CBD has been shown to activate the proliferator-activated receptor γ (PPAR γ), a receptor primarily involved with regulating glucose metabolism, energy homeostasis, and lipid storage, along with downstream effects on inflammation (O'Sullivan, Sun, Bennett, Randall, & Kendall, 2009). PPARy activation has been shown to mediate vasorelaxation, and adipogenesis (a process involved with sequestering lipids to appropriate areas to avoid lipotoxicity in critical organs). CBD activation of PPARy could potentially lead to these anti-inflammatory outcomes and provide some neuroprotection from vascular complications (Alline C. Campos, Fogaça, Sonego, & Guimarães, 2016). CBD's pleiotropic nature and the lack of certainty on its various mechanisms of action supports the need for more extensive research on the subject.

1.4 Behavioral Outcomes of CBD Usage

1.4.1 CBD and Anxiety

In attempts to verify claims of therapeutic potential, several studies have provided support of CBD as an effective anxiolytic. 20mg/kg of CBD has been shown to reverse social withdrawal induced by low-dose THC (1mg/kg) in male Sprague-Dawley rats (Malone, Jongejan, & Taylor, 2009) as well as reduce anxiety-like behavior in mice and rats (D. L. Almeida & Devi, 2020; Zieba et al., 2019). At a dose of 5 to 10 mg/kg, CBD produces anxiolytic effects in rats which are blocked by 5-HT1a receptor antagonists (J. L. C. Lee, Bertoglio, Guimarães, & Stevenson, 2017). At higher doses, CBD does not produce anxiolytic effects unless administered in combination with TRPV1 receptor antagonists, implicating CBD's activation of TRPV1 channels and suggesting higher doses may not be effective (Alline Cristina Campos & Guimarães, 2009). These results suggested that CBD's anxiolytic effects involve 5-HT1a and TRPV1 receptors with a clear dose-dependent effect. However, more research is needed to illuminate the dose-specific effect as well as the impact on anxiolytic behavior as it pertained to oral administration of CBD, which was aimed to be addressed with the current study.

1.4.2 CBD and Stress

Prior research that indicates agonistic properties of CBD for 5-HT1a receptors (Russo et al., 2005) coupled with evidence that the activation of these receptors may mediate stress adaptation (Joca, Ferreira, & Guimarães, 2007; Joca, Padovan, & Guimarães, 2003) suggested that CBD may attenuate the consequences of stress. Previous studies have assessed stress response in rodent models by utilizing acute restraint, a stress situation associated with the production of autonomic and endocrine responses as well as behavioral changes (Glaser & Kiecolt-Glaser, 2005). Resstel et al. (2009) assessed mean arterial pressure and heart rate following the application of 60 minutes of restraint stress on adult male rodents, half an hour after administering IP injections of CBD. Their results indicated that CBD decreased stress-induced cardiovascular responses at 10 and 20 mg/kg doses. Supporting these results, Granjeiro, Gomes, Guimarães, Corrêa, and Resstel (2011) performed intracisternal injections of 15, 30, and 60 nmol CBD into adult male rats and found that CBD attenuated both cardiovascular and behavioral responses induced by 60 mins of restraint stress at the 30 nmol dose. These outcomes indicated specific action of CBD upon stressactivated cardiovascular pathways. Furthermore, CBD has been shown to reduce resting blood pressure in humans, as well as various cardiovascular parameters in response to mental stress,

exercise stress, and cold stress among healthy volunteers (Jadoon, Tan, & O'Sullivan, 2017). Though past research indicated attenuating effects of CBD on stress in both rodents and humans, there is still a dearth of knowledge about the timing as well as the dose-specificity of these effects, which this research hoped to address.

1.4.3 CBD and Pain

Pain relief, one of CBD's most promising potential therapeutic properties, has sparked research interest in recent years. Most commonly, CBD has been shown to reduce pain-like responses in rodent models of osteoarthritis, and inflammatory pain (Costa et al., 2007; Philpott, O'Brien, & McDougall, 2017). In acute pain models in rodents, CBD acted as a potential therapeutic agent for incision pain (Genaro et al., 2017), and was effective in mitigating acute spinal cord disk inflammation and degeneration in rodents (Silveira et al., 2014). Furthermore, rodent models of Parkinson's disease displayed decreased sensitivity to thermal and mechanical pain stimuli after CBD administration, implicating an improved pain threshold (Crivelaro do Nascimento, Ferrari, Del Bel, Bortolanza, & Ferreira-Junior, 2020). Further, CBD appeared to alter pain perception in a dose-dependent manner, (Genaro et al., 2017) found that lower doses (5 nmol/0.25 μ L) did not mitigate mechanical allodynia, while higher doses (10 to 40 nmol/0.25 μ L) were effective in reducing pain. Many studies investigating CBD's effect on pain perception utilized injections to administer the drug (Genaro et al., 2017; Nascimentoa, , , Elaine Aparecida Del Bela, & 2020; Philpott et al., 2017; Silveira et al., 2014), while data on the efficacy of more commonly-utilized routes of CBD administration is needed to improve translational understanding.

1.4.4 CBD and Sleep

Although it is well established that THC increases sleep (Irwin Feinberg, Jones, Walker, Cavness, & Floyd, 1976; I. Feinberg, Jones, Walker, Cavness, & March, 1975; Pivik, Zarcone, Dement, & Hollister, 1972), studies on the effects of CBD on sleep have yielded inconsistent results. A study examining the cannabinoid concentration preference among 163 medicinal cannabis users suffering from sleep disturbances found that these users were more likely to report using strains of cannabis with significantly higher concentrations of CBD (Belendiuk, Babson, Vandrey, & Bonn-Miller, 2015). The first study to examine the effects of the systemic administration of CBD on sleep in rodents found increased duration of slow-wave sleep (SWS) and decreased wakefulness at a 40 mg/kg dose and decreased SWS latency at 20 mg/kg, with no significant changes indicated in the rapid eye movement (REM) phase of sleep (Monti, 1977). Another earlier study found that CBD improved sleep in human individuals who suffered from insomnia (Carlini & Cunha, 1981). More recent studies have found that CBD possesses alerting properties and acts as a wake-promoting agent in both humans and rodents (Nicholson, Turner, Stone, & Robson, 2004). Furthermore, Murillo-Rodríguez, Millán-Aldaco, Palomero-Rivero, Mechoulam, and Drucker-Colín (2006) found that CBD increases wakefulness in rats, causes no changes in SWS, and reduces the duration of REM sleep during a rodent's lights on cycle. This study also found an increase in c-Fos expression in the hypothalamus, and the dorsal raphe nucleus, both areas related to wakefulness. In a later study, similar results were shown for increased waking and reduced duration of REM sleep, as well as a significant reduction in SWS (Murillo-Rodríguez, Palomero-Rivero, Millán-Aldaco, Mechoulam, & Drucker-Colín, 2011). Chagas et al. (2013) intraperitoneally injected CBD into adult male rats in different dose groups and found an increase in REM sleep latency and a non-significant increase in SWS duration in rats treated with CBD 40

mg/kg in the light period of the day of administration, as well as an overall significant increase in total sleep percentage in rats injected with 10 and 40 mg/kg of CBD as compared to vehicle. Changes in the methodologies employed to evaluate sleep in recent years may be what accounted for discrepancies between older studies and more recent findings. While research on the effects of THC on sleep is robust, findings from both clinical and animal studies investigating the impact of CBD on sleep illustrated the need to further assess its effects, particularly at different doses.

1.5 Aims of the Current Research Model

The primary goals of this biphasic study were to a) establish a pharmacokinetic (PK) profile for a CBD compound in male rats, and b) investigate whether this CBD compound induced behavioral changes in a translational rodent model. The first aim of the study was to investigate plasma levels in male rodents after oral administration of the CBD product at a range of doses and time points to establish a better understanding of CBD's PK profile. The second aim of the study was to address the behavioral outcomes associated with this CBD product utilizing a rodent model to investigate pain response, sleep-like behavior, anxiety-like behavior, and stress response. This battery of behavioral testing was selected based on the prevalence of anecdotal support for CBD benefits. It was hypothesized that with higher dosing, a larger concentration of CBD would be present within the rodents' plasma. It is also anticipated that in the battery of behavioral assays, administration of CBD would yield significant changes in behavior: variation in sleep patterns, most likely longer periods of wakefulness coinciding with the more recent studies on CBD regarding sleep, delayed nociceptive response to a thermal pain stimulus, decreased anxiety-like behavior, and decreased cortisol levels in the presence of a stressor. Lastly it is believed that these behavioral outcomes would vary based on the CBD dose that was administered.

Chapter 2: Methods

2.1 Animals and Group Assignment

This research model used novice male Sprague Dawley rats (n=146) for all experiments (Charles Rivers, NY), with an arrival weight between 250-300g. Rodent age at beginning of oral gavage ranged from 65-100 days as a result of COVID-19 project delays. Animals were housed in standard laboratory cages in the DLAR with controlled temperature (72°F), constant humidity (55%), a 12h light/dark cycle (7a.m. lights on/7p.m.lights off) and *ad libitum* access to water and food. Animals were pair-housed with standard enrichment upon arrival to avoid any stressors due to single housing conditions. Rats were allowed to acclimate for a minimum of four days prior to being handled. Animals were then handled for 3 days to prepare rats for oral gavage. All experiments were conducted during the light phase of the day. All procedures were approved by the Wayne State University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (Protocol #19-03-1026) and care of subjects was in accordance with the guidelines of the National Institutes of Health and the Animal Care and Use Program within the National Institute on Drug Abuse Intramural Research Program.

Rats arrived in several batches (n=10-20 each) to stagger the experiment and keep the workload feasible. When the rats arrived, they were divided pseudo-randomly to the control or treatment groups using a random number generator (see Table 1). Animals were weighed each day and drug volume was adjusted accordingly. Fecal samples were also collected, and surface body temperature was measured from the lower abdomen on a daily basis.

The first cohort of rats (n=50) was used to establish the PK curve. These rodents received a 0, 5, 10, 20, or 40 mg/kg dose of CBD once daily (p.o.) for 10 days. Blood samples were collected at 1, 2 and 4hrs post administration to measure CBD concentration in plasma (see Fig. 1.1).

The second cohort of rats included only a vehicle (n=20) and 20mg/kg dose group (n=20) and these were used for behavioral testing. Half the rats underwent sleep and stress tests, and the other half was used for anxiety-like and pain behavior assessment.

A third cohort was used to study the same behaviors again (i.e. pain and sleep assessment, or anxiety and stress assessment), but this time the cohort included a 40mg/kg dose group (n=16 for 40mg/kg, n=6/group for vehicle and 20mg/kg resulting in a total of n=16 /dose group for cohort 2 and 3 together). This additional cohort was the result of initial errors in study design and improper running of dose groups against controls.

Primarily, a misunderstanding and miscommunication during project handoff from a previous student, resulted in a subprime study design. The outcome had the vehicle dose group performing the anxiety and stress tests while the 20mg/kg group was performing the sleep and pain test (and then vice versa for the next batch of rats), instead of some animals from both groups performing the same tests at the same time. The end result gave proper n-values per dose group, being that there were 10 rodents per dose group (0 and 20mg/kg) run through each behavioral test (pain and sleep 'arm' vs anxiety and stress 'arm' of the experiment), but not proper timing. Therefore, each dose group was not run appropriately against controls and this potentially introduces a bias with differences in personnel, environmental conditions, heritage of the rats, etc. Therefore, behavioral assessment was repeated with a smaller number of animals per group (n=6/group) with the proper study design and at the same time an additional dose group (40mg/kg, n=16/group) was added to the experiment.

Unfortunately, a campus wide shut down due to COVID-19 added another layer of complexity to this study as researchers were not able to run the additional cohort as planned. This resulted in a potential seasonal effect this time (Cohort 2 was run in November of 2019 and cohort

3 did not start until August of 2020) and in changes to some animals' age (first cohort 3 batch of rats were slightly older than the others (30 extra days of housing) due to limited lab access through the COVID shutdown) and changes to the personnel that performed the tests (reduced from a team of male and female students to just one male graduate student due to COVID-19 restrictions).

However, to account for most of these unfortunate circumstances by using sophisticated statistical models known as generalized estimating equations (GEE) that can account for these unintended differences between the groups and cohorts. Further, physiological measures showed only negligible differences between cohorts for body temperature, weight change, and corticosterone levels. For a more in-depth discussion of the potential impact of the study design and interruptions see Section 4.4 (strength and limitations) of the discussion.

2.2 General Characteristic Collection and Assessment

All rodents were individually transferred from their home cage to a triple beam balance (OHAUS, 700 series) at the beginning of each day to assess for body weight. Their weight was used as a generalized health check (ensuring no drastic drop in weight) as well as to provide needed information to ensure proper dosing for oral gavage CBD administration. Rodent body temperature was also recorded each day using an infrared laser thermometer (Etekcity, model Lasergrip 774). Body temperature was collected immediately following a rodent's weight measurement and preceding oral gavage. Temperature levels served as a secondary health check measure. Lastly, fecal samples were taken each day directly from each rodent and stored in the -20 freezer for later processing.

2.3 Drug Choice and Administration

The CBD product (Ellipse Analytics, Denver, USA) was a >99% pure CBD compound derived from U.S grown hemp. The CBD was extracted in Ellipse's labs (Denver, CO) using

ethanol and purified using a process of distillation and chromatography. In the lab, the CBD powder was dissolved in sesame oil under sterile conditions at four different concentrations (see below) and kept at 4 C until used. CBD was dissolved into sesame oil for final concentrations of 0 (vehicle control), 5, 10, 20, and 40 mg/ml. Solutions were administered at a volume of 1.0 ml/kg body weight. CBD was given in a single dose each day at 7:30 a.m. for 10 days for each rat using 18-gauge gavage needles (on the day of sleep assessment, rodents received their dose at 11am). All gavages were performed by the same trained experimenter.

2.4 Pharmacokinetic Profile Development

2.4.1 Blood Collection

Blood was collected using saphenous vein blood collection on the first, the fifth, and the tenth day at three different time points per day (Fig. 1.1). These time points were 1-, 2-, and 4-hours post drug administration, resulting in a total of 450 blood samples. Blood draws were taken from opposing hind legs with each draw. The hind leg area was cleaned with an 70% isopropyl alcohol prep pad and Petroleum jelly was applied to the shaved area to maintain a clean blood collection. The rats received a gentle poke to their saphenous vein using a 23-gauge needle and 0.2ml of blood was collected using EDTA-K collection vials. Bleeding was stopped immediately after collection using gauze and gentle pressure. The rat was then returned to its cage and monitored to ensure normal behavior. The same blood collection process was repeated for the 2hr and the 4hr blood draw time points. Once all blood was collected for that day, blood was spun down using a centrifuge using ThermoFisher Scientific's recommendation of 2,000 rpm for 15 minutes, which separated the plasma from the red blood cells. Plasma was then pipetted out into clean, sterile screw cap vials and stored in the -20° freezer until further processing.

2.4.2 Blood CBD Level Analyses

The blood plasma samples with the most available plasma (n=180) were selected from the total of 450 samples to reduce cost. Samples were given to the Wayne State Lumigen lab for analysis. They used the study's control samples (plasma from rodents that only received sesame oil), and spiked them to generate a standard curve, while 5 samples from each time point for each CBD dose were used for analysis. Plasma samples were analyzed for CBD levels using liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry by Wayne State University Lumigen laboratories. Samples were allowed to thaw on ice prior to being analyzed. Samples were then extracted using Agilent Captiva EMR lipid cartridges following the protocol provided by the manufacturer. Internal standards were added to each plasma sample volume before extraction. After extraction, the samples dried under nitrogen and then were brought up to the volume that was used for extraction in 0.1% formic acid and methanol. Next, samples were diluted by a factor of 3 with water, vortexed, and readied for analysis. Analysis took place using a Thermo TSQ Altis triple quadrupole mass spectrometer with EQuan Max Plus system. Samples were assessed in positive ion mode using heated electrospray ionization (H-ESI). The gradient mobile phases utilized were (A) 10 mM ammonium formate with 0.1% formic acid in LC-MS grade water and (B) 10 mM ammonium formate with 0.1% formic acid in LC-MS grade methanol. Compounds were separated using a Waters Acquity UPLC HSS C18 2.1 x 50 mm, 1.8 µm column. The gradient conditions proposed were as follows: gradient started at 60% B and increased from 0-3 minutes to 95% B, then was held at 95% B for 0.5 minutes. Columns were allotted to equilibrate from 3.5-4.25 minutes. Total run time consisted of 4.25 minutes, at a flow of 0.5 mL/min. Injection volume of the sample was 20 μ L onto the column. The column oven was set to 40°C. Internal standards were extracted with each sample set and analyzed throughout the run.

2.5 Behavioral Assessment

Behavioral tests were conducted on the first, fifth and tenth day of CBD/vehicle administration respectively (see Figure 1.2 and 1.3). As described above, rats were assigned to either vehicle or 20 mg/kg CBD in a pseudo-random fashion for cohort 2, and in cohort 3 the 40mg/kg dose group was added (i.e., the behavioral tests were run with 40 rats from the 2nd cohort, and 56 from cohort 3 (unusual cohort separation due to COVID-19 shut down and associated Covid restriction). The tests either consisted of hot plate (day 1), sleep analysis (day 5), and hot plate again (day 10) for one set of animals (group 1)(cohort 2, n=20, cohort 3, n= 28), or elevated zero maze (day 1), restraint stress (day 5), and elevated zero maze again (day 10) for the second set of animals (group 2)(cohort 2, n=20 cohort 3, n= 28). Within each cohort, animals were staggered to ensure feasibility of behavioral tasks (limited by maximum space for sleep assessment allowing for 10 rats).

2.5.1 Hot Plate

Animals were first familiarized with the hot-plate at room temperature the day prior to testing to avoid novelty stress. On day 1, and again on day 10 of CBD/vehicle exposure, each rat in behavioral group 1 was then placed onto the hot-plate apparatus surrounded by a Plexiglas wall approximately 1 hour after the drug administration. The temperature on the digital hotplate (Fisher Scientific, model 11-100-49SH) was set to 55°C before testing and confirmed from the center of the plate before each use using an infrared thermometer (54-56°C; Etekcity, model Lasergrip 774). On the test day, latency time to flinch, lick, and/or raise of their hind paws was recorded. These behaviors have been shown to be representative of a nociceptive response (Espejo & Mir, 1993; Minett et al., 2010). Rats were removed immediately after the first nociceptive behavior was observed. A maximum of 60 seconds was allotted to avoid tissue damage (i.e., if the rat did not

display any nociceptive behavior after 60-s on the hot plate, they were removed, and assessed for any paw scarring (though no scarring was found on any rat).

2.5.2 Sleep Analysis

On the 5th day of CBD/vehicle administration, each rodent pair were separated between their home cage, and a different cage with home cage bedding was introduced, and animals were monitored for their sleep behavior which allowed for greater visualization and appropriate tracking of rodents. Thirty minutes after drug administration, 10 rats were transported from the DLAR facilities to the lab. Only 10 cages could fit with the Noldus camera room, so staggered cohort start days ensured feasibility and kept the proper timeline for all rats. These rats were first allowed to habituate to the lab room for at least 30 minutes. The cages were positioned in a grid fashion in the recording room with the filter cage tops (but not the lids) removed. All larger enrichment objects were removed to improve visualization and food was moved inside of the cage. The water bottles remained positioned on top of the cage. Over the course of 6 hours (12 p.m.-6:00 p.m.), rats remained undisturbed while locomotor activity was recorded and coded for a variety of sleep behaviors. Sleep was defined as at least 40 s or more of immobility (Bains et al. 2018), and the parameters measured were as follows: frequency of entrance into a sleep state, latency to first onset of sleep, and cumulative duration of sleep in seconds and percentage (Ethovision, Ver. 13, Noldus).

2.5.3 Physical Restraint

Restraint stress is commonly employed to induce and investigate stress-associated behavioral, physiological, or biochemical changes within rodents (Alline C. Campos, Fogaca, Aguiar, & Guimaraes, 2013; Padovan & Guimarães, 2000). Rats were placed into a rodent-specific clear acrylic restraint container designed to restrict overall movement. The rodents were held in these tubes for 30 mins each. Blood was collected at 3 time points: Time-1 (baseline; before the

rat was placed into the restrainer tube), Time-2: (peak; immediately after the 30min stressor), and Time-3 (recovery; 90 min after being returned to their home cage). Blood was collected from the saphenous vein using the procedure detailed in phase one of blood collection. Maximum blood collection at any time was 200 ul. Once all blood was collected for that day, blood was spun down using the centrifuge at 2,000 rpm for 15 minutes to separate plasma from red blood cells. Plasma was then pipetted out into clean, sterile screw cap vials and stored in the -20° fridge until further processing.

2.5.5 Elevated Zero Maze (EZM)

The elevated zero maze consisted of two open areas and two closed (walled-in) areas and was elevated 78.7cm above the floor. The design of this maze in combination with comprehensive behavioral analysis allows for sensitive detection of anxiolytic drug action within rodents (Shepherd, Grewal, Fletcher, Bill, & Dourish, 1994). The EZM has been shown to be a better tool for studying anti-anxiety drug effects over alternative models, such as the elevated plus maze and mirror chamber (Kulkarni, Singh, & Bishnoi, 2007). Rats were placed individually into the entrance of a closed area and allowed to explore the maze for a 5-minute period. Total distance traveled, total time spent in each area, and entries into each area were tracked and scored from these sessions by the Ethovision Software (Ethovision, Ver. 13, Noldus). More time spent in open areas has been considered less anxious behavior.

2.5.6 Corticosterone Analysis

Plasma samples were analyzed using the DetectX® Corticosterone Immunoassay kit from Arbor Assays (Ann Arbor, MI, USA, #K014), designed to quantitatively measure corticosterone levels. Reactants and reagents were allowed to warm to room temperature for one hour before usage. Assay buffer concentrate was diluted with distilled water at a 1:5 ratio. To prepare each sample, 5 μ L of serum was added to pre-labeled tubes using a 10 uL pipette with clear (0-10 μ L) pipette tips, utilizing a fresh tip for each sample. Dissociation Reagent (5 μ L) was added into each sample tube and vortexed. Assay Buffer (495 μ L) was added to each sample tube to create a 1:100 dilution of the sample.

Each sample and standard were vortexed again immediately before being transferred to the wells of the assay plate. Each standard and sample were run in duplicate and pipetted into two wells. Fifty μ L of each sample or standard was pipetted into the corresponding wells. Fifty μ L of Assay Buffer was pipetted into maximum control wells, and 75 μ L into non-specific binding control wells. Twenty-five μ L of DetectX Corticosterone Conjugate was added to each well, followed by 25 μ L of DetectX Corticosterone Antibody. Non-specific binding control wells did not receive the antibody. The assay plate was covered with tape (as provided in the kit) and placed on a shaker at room temperature for one hour at 220 rpm.

The assay plate was aspirated and the wells were emptied. Each well was washed with 290 μ L of wash buffer and aspirated four times. One hundred μ L of TMB Substrate was added to each well, and the plate was incubated at room temperature for 30 minutes. The Stop Solution was vortexed, and 50 μ L was added to each well. The assay plate was then inserted into the EPOCH Reader, measuring optical density at 450 nm.

2.6 Euthanasia

2.6.1 Standard CO2

Animals utilized in the behavioral assays were euthanized using standard CO2 procedure and then decapitated as secondary confirmation of death. Brains were removed and rapidly frozen on dry ice. Brains were then stored in the -80 °C freezer for future dissection and western blot analysis.

2.6.2 Perfusions

Animals utilized for blood collection were sacrificed using a single injection of an overdose of sodium pentobarbital (150mg/kg; Fatal Plus©). Once the animal reached a surgical plain, they were transcardially perfused using saline followed by 4% paraformaldehyde. Brains were removed and stored in 4% paraformaldehyde for 24h before being transferred into phosphate buffer containing 30% sucrose until further processing.

2.7 Statistical Analyses

All statistical tests were run using SPSS™ (version 27), and graphs were produced in Prism™ (GraphPad Software, San Diego, California USA, www.graphpad.com) either using ANOVA or generalized estimating equations (GEE). As the assumption of independence of errors was not met for the behavioral data because of the separate cohort situation discussed above, a standard ANOVA design was not a viable option to evaluate this data. An ANOVA model requires residual errors to be unique from all other predictors. However, in this experiment the difference in time, or the difference in cohort (2 vs 3) could potentially result in a form of unique variance or error that is specific or correlated to that cohort. To address these concerns, several steps were taken. An initial comparison of physiological measures (weight and temperature) between cohorts were compared using ANOVA. These physiological measures were recorded consistently across all animals regardless of group. Results from these physiological assessments from both behavioral groups for the control and 20mg/kg dose group (40mg/kg could not be included due to it being assessed in only one behavioral group) were analyzed using ANOVA to give insight on the error structure of a variable that was properly assessed against controls in all groups. There was no statistically significant difference between cohorts in weight or temperature, suggesting that group comparisons can be made using the pooled data set for behavioral analysis of the control and 20mg/kg dose group. This pooled data set then used an additional statistical analysis, generalized estimating equations (GEE), to account for the potential correlated error, and improve the interpretation of the data. GEE accounts for this error by correlating it by timepoint, or in this case cohort. The residual error is included or nested within the observation as apart of GEE, and is no longer required to be independent. This statistical measure goes above and beyond another consideration which was to control for error by using the cohort has a covariate, but this is also insufficient, since the variations in these error structures could have changed the overall measurement of individual observations for each variable.

Even though there were no significant differences between cohorts when it came to weigh and temperature, further analysis using repeated measures ANOVA was run to look at progressive changes that may have occurred by day or due to CBD dosing. Repeated measures ANOVA for assessing weight allowed for the parsing out some of the concerns that arose due to the set of rats that were slightly older than the others (30 extra days of housing) due to limited lab access through the COVID shutdown. Differences in temperature were also looked at using repeated measures ANOVA.

To investigate serum CBD levels, an omnibus ANOVA was run using a 5 dose groups (0, 5, 10, 20, and 40 mg/kg) x 3 blood draw time points (1, 2, and 4 hrs. post-administration) x 3 days (1, 5, and 10 days of administration) model. If significance was found, separate ANOVAs were run for each day to assess changes that occur on individual days.

Behavioral differences within cohort 3 were assessed using ANOVA to test the hypotheses surrounding pain outcomes, anxiety, stress, and sleep of the additional 40mg/kg dose group. However, to evaluate these hypotheses between cohorts, a GEE approach was used because it does not hold the same assumptions required of ANOVA design. GEE was evaluated using a linear model, assuming normality and correcting for observations within cohorts as an exchangeable correlation matrix to make assessments of all behavioral outcomes between the 20mg/kg, and control dose group in cohort 2 and 3. The exchangeable correlation matrix is one of several options utilized to label how error can be correlated with the data. The Exchangeable matrix was chosen because there is no sequence (no repeated or meaningful time measurements) within this model, only two distinct time points, being the separation between the two distinct cohorts. Other matrix considerations within GEE can expand upon additional timepoints of measurement if needed. MANOVA analysis was used to assess behavioral assays with multiple recorded outcomes from cohort 3 as a standalone measure, to allow for assessment across all dose groups. Behavioral assays with only one variable measured were assessed using ANOVA. Anxiolytic behavioral data was assessed using a repeated-measures MANOVA to analyze total duration in open arms of the EZM, frequency of entrance into each area, and total distance traveled between dose groups from the third cohort on the first and tenth day of administration. This MANOVA consisted of a 3-level (Vehicle, 20mg/kg CBD, and 40mg/kg CBD) between-subjects factor of dose with a 2-level (day 1, day 10) within-subject factor of day of testing. A repeated measure ANOVA was utilized to assess stress response levels during the physical restraint assay. This was a 3-level (vehicle, 20, 40 mg/kg CBD) between-subject factor of dose, and 3-level within-subject factor of time of blood draw: Time-1 (baseline-immediately prior to restraint), Time-2 (peak-immediately following restraint), and Time-3 (recovery-1.5 hours after restraint is removed). Latency to a nociceptive response on the first and tenth day of administration between control, CBD 20, and 40 mg/kg, was assessed using a one-way repeated-measures ANOVA with the day of testing as the 2-level (day 1, day 10) within-subject's factor. To evaluate sleep outcomes, a MANOVA was used to assess differences between dose group in the parameters of frequency of entrance into a sleep state,

latency to first onset of sleep, and cumulative duration of sleep. For all experiments, an alpha level of p < .05 was used as the measure of statistical significance. For all experiments, univariate and multivariate outliers were removed using pairwise deletion if they exceeded the threshold of a zscore of 3.29 harmful to overall understanding of the analysis, or if rational indicates a potential error in the measurement. If Mauchly's test was found to be significant, and therefore violating the assumption of Sphericity, a Greenhouse-Geisser (epsilon < 0.75) or Huynh-Feldt (epsilon >0.75) correction was applied to assuage the chance of inflation within the significance value estimated. However, if Levene's test was significant, p<.05 (tests the null hypothesis that error variances are equal across groups) then the output no longer meet the assumption of homogeneity of variance and the multivariate test statistic will be used. Box's M test will also be used, p < .001, to evaluate the assumption of homogeneity of variance-covariance matrices. When significant main differences were shown, univariate differences between all pairwise comparisons were addressed using Tukey's HSD post-hoc analysis. Tukey's HSD allowed for these comparisons to be made while controlling for type 1 error rate inflation. A supplemental table (Table 2) was included for measures of effect sizes across all behavioral assays.

Chapter 3: Results

3.1 General Characteristics

3.1.1 Weight Outcomes

Weight gain was recorded every day from initial gavage and converted to a percent change over the original day 1 weight, to account for initial weight differences amongst rodents (see Figure 2). A repeated measure ANOVA for cohort 2 (Figure 2.1), showed that there was no significant main effect of CBD [F(1,38)=2.67, p=.11]. A significant day effect was observed [Greenhouse-Geisser F(2.21, 84.10)= 339.31, p<.001] with all animals gaining weight across the timeframe of the experiment. A repeated measures ANOVA for cohort 3 (Figure 2.2) showed no significant effect of dose [F(2,53)=.889, p=.417]. However, there was a significant difference between days with all rats gaining weight throughout the course of the experiment [Greenhouse-Geisser F (1.52,80.63)=84.61, p<.001].

3.1.2 Temperature Outcomes

A repeated measures ANOVA of cohort 2, showed that there was no significant difference between dose groups [F(1,38)=.004, p=.95] on body temperature (see Figure 3.1). There was however a significant effect of day [Greenhouse-Geisser F(5.33, 202.55)=8.62, p<.001]. The rodent colony room had one cold day (69°F) but even removing this day did not change the significant outcome. Average rodent temperatures fluctuated between 30.6° and 31.8°C, with their temperatures dropping close 29.5°C on the cold room day.

A repeated measures ANOVA of cohort 3 (Figure 3.2), showed no significant difference between dose groups [F(2,53)=.27, p=.77]. There was a significant effect of day on body temperature [Huynh-Feldt F (8.78,465.21)=2.69, p<.01], with body temp fluctuating again between 30.5 and 31.8 on average across all 10 days.

3.2 Pharmacokinetics

Within the 5x3x3 ANOVA, five of the 180 blood sample measurements did not meet the threshold amount for appropriate measurement at the Lumigen lab, and three were removed as outliers based on the outlier criteria. First looking at the interactions, significance was found across all interactions; day*time*dose [F(12,172)=1.99, p=.031], time*dose [F(6,172)=3.61, p=.002], day*dose [F(6,172)=2.40, p=.031], and time*day [F(4,172)=2.61, p=.039]. There were significant main effects for dose of CBD in plasma, [F(3,172)=104.512, p<.001], and time, [F(2,172)=32.359, p<.001], but not by day [F(2,172)=2.187, p=0.116] (as such, days were collapsed for visual representation, see Figure 4). Tukey *post hoc* tests revealed that the 40mg/ml and a 20mg/ml dose resulted in significantly different CBD plasma concentrations as compared to all other dose groups (p<.001), with 5mg/ml of CBD showing no significant differences from 10mg/ml of CBD. Further, CBD concentrations at 4 hours after drug administration were significantly lower compared to hours 1 and 2 (p<.001) for all groups (see Figure 4).

3.3 Behavioral Outcomes

3.3.1 GEE modeling to compare 0mg/kg to 20mg/kg

Generalized Estimating equation (GEE) modeling was used across all behavioral assessments between cohorts for both the control and 20mg/kg CBD dose group. This statistical approach was used to control for differences resulting from running several cohorts and other COVID restriction-induced changes (i.e. number of researchers present during testing etc.).

3.3.1.1 Hot Plate Test

Two outliers were removed, 1 from the control cohort on day 10, and 1 from the 20mg/kg dose group, both for reaching max time. GEE assessment of Hot plate latency (s) showed no effect of dose on Day 1 [Wald χ^2 =.77, p=.38], however, there was an effect of dose on Day 10 [Wald
χ^2 =4.83, p=.028]. B-weights showed that, on Day 10, the 20 mg/kg dose group had a 6.800 second increase in latency in reaction to the hot plate on average when compared to controls. Mean hot plate latency for 0 mg/kg on Day 10 was 17.73 seconds (95% Wald Confidence interval, 14.02-21.45) while mean hot plate latency for 20 mg/kg on Day 10 was 24.53 seconds, (95% Wald Confidence interval, 20.59-32.91) see Figure 5.

3.3.1.2 Sleep Assessment

Sleep assessment was run using Ethovision, Ver. 13, Noldus over a 6hr period (12pm-6pm) and measures included; distance traveled, frequency of entrance into a sleep state (40s of immobility), latency to first onset of sleep, and cumulative duration of sleep in seconds. GEE revealed no difference for distance traveled (cm) or entries into the state of inactivity during the sleep assessment between groups [Wald χ^2 =.45, p=.50; see Figure 6.1. and Wald χ^2 =2.57, p=.11; see Figure 6.2. respectively]. However, even though the number of entries into a sleep state were not significantly different, GEE revealed that cumulative time (s) spent in an inactive state was significantly different between dose groups [Wald χ^2 =7.11, p=.008]; see Figure 6.3. B-weights showed that the 20mg/kg dose group spent 2923.69 seconds less on average in an inactive state than 0mg/kg. The mean cumulative duration spent in an inactive state for 0mg/kg and 20mg/kg dose groups were 11824.2 seconds (95% Wald Confidence interval, 10465.38-13183.02) and 8900.51 (95% Wald Confidence interval, 7234.51-10566.50) seconds, respectively. The time it took for them to show their first instance of sleep like behavior was not significantly different between dose groups [Wald χ^2 =.068, p=.79] (Figure 6.4).

3.3.1.3 Elevated Zero Maze

The elevated Zero Maze was used as a measure of anxiety like behavior. This procedure was used on the 1st and 10th day of administration. GEE was used to analyze outcomes of open

arm entry, open arm duration, and distance traveled in centimeters separately on each day. Evaluation of distance traveled (cm) showed no significant effect of dose on day 1 [Wald χ^2 =.21, p=.65]. However, on day 10, there was a significant difference between the dose groups [Wald χ^2 =5.72, p=.017]. B-weights show that the control traveled on average 283.26 cm more in the EZM than the 20mg/kg dose group on Day 10. The average total distance traveled by 0mg/kg and 20mg/kg on Day 10 was 1428.44cm (95% Wald Confidence interval, 1266.94-1589.94) and 1145.18cm (95% Wald Confidence interval, 978.48-1311.88), respectively (Figure 7.1). When looking at cumulative time (s) spent in the open arm of the EZM, there was no significant effect of dose group on day 1 [Wald χ^2 =1.41, p=.24]. There was a significant difference between dose groups on Day 10 [Wald χ^2 =4.08, p=.043]. Based on b-weights, the control (0mg/kg) group spent on average 16.4 seconds longer in the open arm of the Elevated Zero Maze than the 20mg/kg dose group on Day 10. On average the control group spent 42.10 seconds in the open arm of the EZM (95% Wald Confidence interval, 31.01-53.18), while the 20mg/kg dose group spent 25.6975 seconds (95% Wald Confidence interval, 14.29-37.11) (Figure 7.2). Alongside time spent in each arm, the number of entries also showed some differences. Average number of entries into the open arm showed no significant differences between dose groups on Day 1 [Wald χ^2 =.13, p=.72] but there was a significant difference between dose groups on Day 10 [Wald χ^2 =5.22, p=.022]. Bweights show that 0mg/kg had a mean number of entries that were 3.06 more than the 20mg/kg dose group for the open arm on Day 10. On average, the 0mg/kg dose group entered the open arm of the EZM 7.88 times (95% Wald Confidence interval, 5.68-10.07) on Day 10, while the 20mg/kg dose group entered 4.81 times (95% Wald Confidence interval, 3.36-6.26), Figure 7.3. 3.3.1.4 Restraint Stress and Corticosterone Analysis

Using GEE analysis, corticosterone concentration in the plasma was statistically analyzed

to assess the mean differences at each of the three timepoints individually, see Figure 8. 1 outlier was removed from the control recovery time point due to exceeding the z-score threshold. Corticosterone levels immediately following restraint stress (i.e. stress response levels) were not statistically different across dose groups, but there was a trend towards significance [Wald χ^2 =3.44, p=.064]. There was no dose effect for baseline or recovery measures [Wald χ^2 =.21, p=.65] and [Wald χ^2 =.000, p=.998] respectively.

3.3.2 Behavioral Cohort 3 Assessments

Cohort 3 assessment focused only on the second round of rats received for behavioral assessment. By focusing on just this cohort, it allowed for the evaluation of outcomes produced by the 40mg/kg dose group that were not able to address using GEE (no 40mg/kg dose group was present in the other cohort of behavioral assessment).

3.3.2.1 Hot Plate Test

A single outlier was removed from the control cohort on day 10 due to hot plate cooling, and a single outlier was removed from day 1 of the 40mg/kg dose group for exceeding the z-score threshold. Repeated measures ANOVA assessing paw withdrawal latency (s) by dose (Figure 9) revealed no significant differences between dose groups. [F(2,23)=1.90, p=.17]3.3.2.2 Sleep Assessment

Sleep assessment was kept consistent, running Ethovision, Ver. 13, Noldus over a 6hr period (12pm-6pm) and measuring distance traveled, frequency of entrance into a sleep state (40s of immobility), latency to first onset of sleep, and cumulative duration of sleep in seconds. Distance traveled (cm) assessment using ANOVA displayed no significance between dose groups (Figure 10.1) [F(2,25)=.91, p=.42]. Number of inactive state entries showed no mean differences that were significantly different between dose groups (Figure 10.2) [F(2,25)=.894, p=.422]. The average

time it took each rat to reach its first inactive state (s) (Figure 10.3) did not differ significantly between dose groups [F(2,25)=0.10, p=0.91]. There were also no significant differences in effect of dose on a rodent's cumulative inactive duration within cohort 3 (Figure 10.4) [F(2,25)=1.32, p=.28].

3.3.2.3 Elevated Zero Maze

1 outlier was removed for exceeding the z-score threshold, a single 20mg/kg rodent on day 1. The Elevated Zero Maze was used on the 1st and 10th day of administration. A Repeated Measures ANOVA was used to analyze outcomes of open arm entry, open arm duration, and distance traveled in centimeters on each day by dose. As seen in Figure 11.1, total distance traveled (cm) was not significantly affected by dose received [F(2,25)=1.71, p=.20]. Figure 11.2 represents the total time (s) spent in the open arm of the EZM separated by dose, and there was no effect of dose shown within the Omnibus repeated measures ANOVA [F(2,25)=.44, p=.65]. 2 outliers were removed for exceeding the z-score threshold (freezing), a single 40mg/kg rodent on day 1, and a different one on day 10. Lastly, the number of entries into the open arm of the EZM by were not significantly different between dose groups (Figure 11.3) [F(2,25)=1.00, p=.38].

3.3.2.4 Restraint Stress and Corticosterone Analysis

A repeated measure ANOVA was run to assess the omnibus effect of dose on corticosterone levels across restraint stress time points, Figure 12. 1 outlier was removed from the control recovery time point due to exceeding the z-score threshold. There was a significant effect of dose group [F(2,24)=3.77, p<.05] with the Elisa plate as a covariate. Tukey Post Hoc testing revealed the significance of this effect was being driven by the differences between the control and the 40mg/kg dose group (P<.05). With no significance shown in the GEE for baseline or recovery, but a trend in corticosterone levels being shown for peak stress levels, A planned comparison

assessment of peak corticosterone levels immediately following restraint stress was run indicating that at this time point significance was reached between the control and 40 mg/kg CBD [F(1,19)=5.81, p<.05].

Chapter 4: Discussion

This project sought out to provide further insight into the properties and benefits of CBD use. This experiment utilization of a rodent model for all of its varying assessments allowed for a more controlled environment, and clearer evaluation of the CBD product as a stand-alone drug. Further experimentation is needed, and clinical research still needs to be done to evaluate these outcomes more in humans, but the implications of this study provide beneficial information to the overall literature on CBD. Significant increases in blood CBD concentration were observed with increasing CBD dose, and elevated blood CBD concentrations were seen during the 1st and 2nd hr post-administration time points as compared to the 4th hour. Significant dose effects of CBD consumption were observed for pain sensitivity, sleep behavior, stress response, and overall sedation. There were no effects at any dose on rodent weight gain, or body temperature.

4.1 General Characteristic Development

4.1.1 Weight

Day was the only variable within this study that affected weight. This is to be expected, as the rats age and eat they gain weight. There was no effect of CBD on weight within the experiment. There was a small portion of rodents (8 rodents) that had a higher starting weight within the 3rd cohort due to a 30 day longer housing period during the COVID-19 shutdown. A similar outcome was found in a study by Osborne, Solowij, Babic, Huang, and Weston-Green (2017) that collected food and water intake, as well as weight. This study looked to assess CBD's effect within a rodent model of prenatal infection, and the male offspring (PN56) were injected twice daily with 10mg/kg of CBD for 3 weeks. There were no differences between groups when it came to weight, food intake, or water intake. The lack of observed changes in weight gain as a result of CBD treatment is in contrast to an earlier study by (Ignatowska-Jankowska, Jankowski, & Swiergiel, 2011) that

found weight gain was reduced over 14 days of 2.5 or 5mg/kg of CBD i.p. injections in Wistar rats. In a Meta-analysis presented by Pamplona, Da Silva, and Coan (2018), that looked to discuss the effects of CBD on treatment resistant Epilepsy in humans, weight gain and increased appetite were the only consistent "adverse" events that occurred across studies with the addition of CBD. Due to the limited assessment of CBD on weight change, and the conflicting reports in the literature, continued assessment of this and other physiological characteristics is needed.

4.1.2 Temperature

The literature varies on the topic of body temperature regulation, but overall, appears to agree that CBD does not have a noticeable effect on overall body temperature. A review of the safety and side effects of CBD, that reported across 132 studies of CBD using a variety of routes of administration (oral, i.p, i.v, intratumor, and intra-arterial) and doses (0-1500mg/kg/day) showed that CBD did not have an effect on physiological measures such as body temperature, heart rate, and blood pressure (Machado Bergamaschi, Helena Costa Queiroz, Waldo Zuardi, & Crippa, 2011). However, it has been reported that 30 minutes vapor inhalation of CBD at either 100 or 400 mg/ml induced dose dependent hypothermia in male Wistar rats, but not in females, and not through i.p. injection (Javadi-Paydar, Creehan, Kerr, & Taffe, 2019). No differences in thermoregulation or body temperature were observed as a result of CBD consumption in the present investigation; however, there were differences in body temperature by day. The difference in body temperature could be the result of varying in room temperature, slight variations in the position of the infrared laser on the belly of the rodent, battery strength of the thermometer, etc. Body temperature though does typically fluctuate within a small range, but measurements could still be improved. Instead of measuring surface body temperature from the belly using infrared laser, taking rectal thermometer measurements could improve consistency. Rectal readings would need to be evaluated in the grand scope of the project however, because this procedure could be another source of stress.

4.2 Characteristics of CBD Bioavailability

This study supports the idea that orally administered CBD is eliminated over the course of 24 hrs. (Deiana et al., 2012). There were no day effects, suggesting that CBD did not buildup or remain within the bloodstream. These results agree with previous pharmacokinetic studies of CBD using rodent models (Deiana et al., 2012; Hložek et al., 2017). However, with typically lower levels of CBD bioavailability being present through oral administration, CBD injections tended to be a more common practice within the literature (Genaro et al., 2017; Nascimentoa et al., 2020; Philpott et al., 2017; Silveira et al., 2014). CBD has been shown to peak within the bloodstream between the first and second hour with the half-life being around 4 hours. While elimination in rodents seems to be the same no matter the route of administration, IP injections and inhalations both produce their peak concentrations more rapidly when compared to oral administration, with oral administration producing the highest concentrations in the brain (Deiana et al., 2012; Hložek et al., 2017). However, larger concentrations of CBD are eliminated in the same timeframe as smaller concentrations may indicate first order kinetics. The higher the concentration of a drug given, the more that is eliminated in a unit of time. A constant proportion of CBD appears to be eliminated over time, allowing different concentrations to all be eliminated over the course of 24 hrs. However, there have been findings in human studies surrounding CBD use that support the idea that CBD absorption and metabolism may be more complicated; that CBD concentration in the blood may be dependent on both the physiological status (fasted/full) and the length/type of the dosing period a subject is on (Stott et al., 2013; Taylor et al., 2018). The current understanding

though is that the pharmacokinetic profiles in both animals and humans show a bell-shaped doseresponse curve of isolated CBD (Alline Cristina Campos & Guimarães, 2009; Linares et al., 2019).

The idea of the fasted vs. full effects on CBD absorption become more intriguing with the understanding that CBD along with other cannabinoids are also highly lipophilic, and are easily stored in fatty tissue. This fat tissue storage may require improved estimates of CBD within the body, above and beyond strict blood analysis. CBD being hepatically metabolized, by isozymes CYP2C19 and CYP3A4; producing hydroxylated 7-hydroxy cannabidiol (7-OH-CBD) which is then excreted primarily through fecal, this metabolite could provide greater insight through further investigation (Lucas, Galettis, & Schneider, 2018) and give rise to an interesting connection between the effects produced by CBD, and CBD's interactions within the gut. The interaction between CBD and the gut may be supported by oral CBD providing more beneficial outcomes for individuals in need of symptomatic relief. This current project helps address concerns of CBD bioavailability after oral administration, since primary routes of administration in preclinical research have consisted of injection. CBD is primarily available as an oral supplement, signifying that oral gavage and oral administration of CBD in rodent models provide an improved translational model of human consumption, while improving guidance on appropriate dosing for therapeutic outcomes (Zhornitsky & Potvin, 2012).

4.3 CBD and Behavior

4.3.1 Pain-like Behavior

In this current study rodents that received a moderate dose of CBD (20mg/kg) had an increased latency to the hot plate stimulus when compared to controls, mimicking a reduced painlike response. The results produced from this project would suggest that there is potential for antinociceptive outcomes and pain relief as a result of CBD consumption. It has been shown that

10mg/kg CBD through i.p injection in a mice Parkinson's model decreased sensitivity to thermal and mechanical pain stimuli in an acute and chronic manner (Nascimentoa et al., 2020). CBD has also shown benefits in regards to acute pain models. CBD served as a therapeutic agent for incision pain (Genaro et al., 2017), and disk inflammation in rodents (Silveira et al., 2014). CBD can also alleviate chronic pain, including osteoarthritic, neuropathic and inflammatory pain in rodents (Costa et al., 2007; Philpott et al., 2017). The models of prolonged pain may be may be more translatable for the current research. One hypothesis on how CBD may be producing its antinociceptive properties is through its agonistic influence on TRPV1. CBD serving as an agonist, activates TRPV1, allowing for a greater influx of Ca²⁺ to enter into a nociceptive neuron. Incoming Ca2+ binds to and activates Calmodulin, which then binds to a calmodulin recognition region on Calcineurin. Calcineurin acts as a protein phosphatase removing the phosphate that is bound to TRPV1 deactivating and desensitizing the neuron over time. This general agonistic pathway is mapped out by Patapoutian, Tate, and Woolf (2009), and is displayed in Figure 14. This path could serve synergistically with CBD's inverse agonistic effect on G-protein-coupled receptor 12 (GPR12). Brown, Laun, and Song (2017) investigate CBD's pathway through GPR12, which would inhibit cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) reducing protein kinase a (PKA) activation, limiting the phosphorylation of TRPV1. Both pathways work to either remove phosphate from TRPV1 or keep phosphate from binding to it, leading to a reduction in the signal being generated by a noxious stimulus. Leading to reduced pain perception. Further evaluation in a chronic model may be more suitable to assess pain relief due to a potential delay in CBD release into the blood from fat storage. Even though further work needs to be done to better interpret the potential for dose dependent variations in pain perception on account of the 40mg/kg dose group assessment yielding nil results, there has been some literature that indicated that higher doses of CBD improve upon these effects (Genaro et al., 2017). There is a hope to expand more on these studies to improve upon the evaluation of appropriate dosing and routes of administration for improved translation to a more generalizable population. CBD could provide an alternative to the effective, yet potentially harmful current standard for analgesia, opiates. Pain is such a universal experience, that CBD's potential analgesic response may be one of its most promising.

4.3.2 Sleep Response

The results indicate that rodents that received 20mg/kg of CBD were more awake and alert, as they spent less time in an inactive state. Looking strictly at the third behavioral cohort of rodents, there are similar patterns (though non-significant) in time spent in an inactive state for the 20mg/kg group as well. The mean time spent in an inactive state for those that received 40mg/kg was beginning to return to being more in line with that of the control rodents. Further studies would need to be run to ensure that this dose dependent effect is not an error caused by low power within the third cohort, but the implications of these outcomes would be beneficial in evaluating CBD's potential as a natural stimulant. Coinciding with recent literature that examine sleep, CBD served as a wake-promoting agent in both humans and rodents (Nicholson et al., 2004), it caused no changes in SWS, reduced the duration of REM sleep, and increased c-Fos expression in the hypothalamus and the dorsal raphe nucleus (Murillo-Rodríguez et al., 2006). However, earlier studies determined that systemic administration of CBD increased duration of slow-wave sleep (SWS) and decreased wakefulness at a 40 mg/kg dose (Monti, 1977) and increased total sleep percentage in rats injected with 10 and 40 mg/kg of CBD as a whole (Chagas et al., 2013). Although it was first postulated that these changes of interpretation of CBD sleep outcomes could have been due to changes in methodologies, expanded research should be done into potential biphasic and situational effects of CBD on sleep. The outcomes produced in this experiment along

with further research could go a long way into evaluating therapeutic dosing required for improved wakefulness (stimulation) at low doses, and also improved restfulness at high doses.

4.3.3 Anxiety-like Behavior

There is minimal support from these findings that support any anxiolytic behavior, but there were signs of reduced movement. There is literature that does support anxiolysis with CBD administration in regards to social withdrawal (Malone et al., 2009) and overall anxiety (V. Almeida et al., 2013; Zieba et al., 2019). The Elevated Zero Maze, though a viable test is easily susceptible to handling and learned effects. This assay could be improved by only running it on the 10th day of administration, eliminating the potential for learned behavior coinciding with greater dose induced outcomes. There are also concerns with the dosing that was used for the behavioral assessments. Though it produced interpretable results within other anxiety testing assays, some of these effects were only seen at lower doses such as 5 to 10 mg/kg (J. L. C. Lee et al., 2017). The higher concentrated doses may not produce anxiolytic effects unless administered in combination with a TRPV1 receptor antagonists (Alline Cristina Campos & Guimarães, 2009). This variance by dose concentration makes it that much more crucial to continue the investigation of CBD's dose dependent anxiolytic effects and the receptors involved such 5-HT1a and TRPV1 receptors.

4.3.4 Stress Attenuation

A non-significant decrease in corticosterone concentration is seen immediately following restraint stress in the 20mg/kg dose group when compared to controls, and there is a significant decrease in the 40mg/kg dose group when compared to controls. This change in corticosterone concentration would imply that as the dose of CBD administered increases, the level of corticosterone produced in response to stress decreases; providing support for a dose dependent

attenuation of the stress response. There was no effect at baseline, and no change once a rodent had recovered from the stressor, which might be due to relatively low levels of corticosterone at these time points in general. The absence of an effect at baseline or recovery falls in line with the idea that CBD attenuates the consequences of stress, providing its therapeutic benefit in the presence of a stressful event. CBD helps to moderate the response to a stressful event (Joca et al., 2007; Joca et al., 2003). CBD also decreased mean arterial pressure in response to restraint stress (Resstel et al., 2009). This research has begun to address the question of the timing behind CBD's effect on stress, but further research would be necessary to address issues of more broad instances of stress, stress adaptation, prolonged stress, and the receptors involved such as 5-HT1a receptors (Russo et al., 2005).

4.4 Strengths and Limitations

This study had several limitations and strengths. One event that resulted in several limitations was the COVID-19-induced shut down of the laboratory that happened half way through the study. This necessary change in campus activity stymied project pace, and resulted in a change of personnel involved with the project. This shut down resulted in the putting down of rodents before the end of their behavioral testing (data excluded from final results), aged one group of rodents by an additional 30 days, extended time between the second cohort and the third, and drastically reduced the team available to run varying assays. These changes could potentially have led to both seasonal and handling effects. The plan of additional rats also resulted in unbalanced cohorts, resulting in an assessment of the 40mg/kg dose group with reduced power when compared to the GEE assessment of the control and 20mg/kg dose groups. In the course of rodent work, keeping all extraneous variables as consistent as possible is critical in producing the most reliable results. The COVID interruption did hinder the researcher's ability to maintain this consistency,

but the results produced are still interpretable and meaningful. A follow up study would benefit from rebalancing out the number of rats per group on a tighter timeline to increase power for interpreting dose effects.

A review of seasonal effects on laboratory rodent behavior by Ferguson and Maier (2013) found minimal to nil results supporting a seasonal difference in rodent behaviors tied to activity, and learning; ambiguous results for anxiety and depression; and some support for seasonal differences in pain response. Considering that the initial behavioral cohort batches of rats were run only 3 weeks apart, the effect of season is probably minimal within theses batches, but differences in genetic heritage, environmental conditions ((temperature and humidity variations, and construction noises, which are well documented as uncontrollable contributors to error in rodent studies (Blaustein, 2011; Dallman et al., 1999; Toukh, Gordon, & Othman, 2014), building construction was occurring on a building in close proximity)) cannot be excluded.

A study run by Sorge et al. (2014) found that exposure to male, not female experimenters produced pain inhibition in male rats, which was associated with an increased stress response. Sorge et al. (2014) would suggest that the change in personnel in the current study may have had an impact on the outcomes. There is also variation from individual to individual in quality of handling; differences in handling have been associated with variations in cognition, stress, and emotional response across behavioral procedures (Chapillon, Patin, Roy, Vincent, & Caston, 2002; Gouveia & Hurst, 2013; Meijer, Sommer, Spruijt, Van Zutphen, & Baumans, 2007; Núñez, Ferré, Escorihuela, Tobeña, & Fernández-Teruel, 1996). Though experimenters tried their best to standardize handling procedures across all personnel, COVID restrictions reduced the overall team size, which may have contributed to cohort differences (this could be due to handling, or even the timing of the tests, as they become more complicated to complete with a smaller team).

These variations in behavioral outcomes as a result of external factors may have occurred within the scope of this project. An initial observation of the data from rodents that received 20mg/kg CBD and controls to address cohort differences found some differences in behavioral outcomes. An example would be that in hot plate testing, the original cohort showed a distinct increase in hot plate latency of the 20mg/kg from day 1 to day 10, while controls were consistent. In the additional behavioral cohort there was a slight increase from day 1 to day 10 in hot plate latency for both the controls and those rodents that received CBD. The reduction in sample size (10 to 6) in the cohorts may have some influence over these differences with an increased potential for variation.

Another improvement that could be made to this study would be to use an improved hotplate assay. The hotplate device used suffered from inconsistent heat stability, and significant edge cooling drop off. Another potential limitation that could be viewed is that the rodents reduced in their movement during the EZM task, and these outcomes could hold implications when it came to the sleep assessment as well. However, this effect most likely has minimal weight when it comes to the interpretation of this sleep study given that the time frames are vastly different (5 minutes vs 6 hours) giving very different scopes of the rodents' behavior. There may be a need to run these assessments on the same day though to check and ensure that these outcomes do not influence one another.

A strength of this study is in its design. The use of oral gavage provides an improved translational model over other forms of administration, due to most current CBD projects marketed to humans being oral supplements. This Improved translation is also accompanied by the benefit of the purity of the product; using a 99% pure CBD product allowed for greater assurance that any produced outcomes were a result of the drug itself. Overall project reliability and reproducibility

improve with a purer product. An additional strength of this study would be that its design developed a pharmacokinetic curve that directed the implementation of CBD administration for behavioral assessment of a novel CBD compound. There are minimal projects within the literature that both seek to address the Pharmacokinetics of a novel CBD compound, as well as interpret how the compound affects behavior. In addition to co-assessment of both pharmacokinetics and behavior, the volume of CBD in sesame oil was appropriately increased each day due to weight measurements being taken at the start of each day of administration. One last strength is that this project has already begun to expand with future collaborations to assess varying brain regions of interest, and well as gut microbiome outcomes.

4.5 Dose Dependent Effects

Looking at the pharmacokinetic cohort (#1) that was run with all dose groups included at the same time, increases in CBD dosage is correlated with CBD present in blood plasma, and that all dose levels followed a similar pattern. Therefore, it would be expected that there would be a dose dependent effect within the behavioral outcomes as well. A dose-dependent effect appears to hold true for a few of the behaviors. This research does have to contend with the understanding that there were no effects that occurred for day 1 behavioral testing, so CBD concentration in blood may not be the best measure to evaluate CBD's potential effect on behavior. Expanding on this day effect, the study showed that CBD concentrations were similar across the 10-day experiment and did not show any buildup in blood from day to day, with the behavioral effects occurring only on the 5th or 10th day. The presence of behavioral outcomes in spite of CBD clearing the bloodstream over 24 hrs, and not showing any buildup from day to day, may signify other processes being involved in CBD's produced outcome such as storage and tissue concentration. High levels of CBD storage in tissue may occur due to its highly lipophilic nature, as well its potential to quickly crosses the Blood Brain Barrier (BBB) (Hložek et al., 2017). CBD seems to have a greater affinity to crossing the blood brain barrier that isn't fully understood (Aparicio-Blanco et al., 2019), but the process for CBD's crossing appears to be associated with transmembrane diffusion, a process highly influenced by a compounds molecular weight, and lipid solubility (Banks, 2009). However, even if CBD does cross using transmembrane diffusion, and with it being shown that oral administration of cannabinoids produced relatively high concentrations within the brain, 10mg/kg of CBD still clears the brain entirely by the 24th hr (Hložek et al., 2017). This outcome calls into question how CBD is having its effects, and requires further investigation. Understanding CBD's effects could be improved upon by assessing if higher dosing levels result in higher CBD concentration in the brain for longer periods of time; is it strictly CBD brain concentration that plays this determining role or what other physiological interactions with CBD administration could be involved in producing these behavioral changes.

Though integration from the output from the 40mg/kg dose group and 20mg/kg dose group isn't statistically viable due to limitations of the project, it is still meaningful to look at how their output can be interpreted together. Understanding how thee varying doses coincide together becomes one of the most important implication to address from this data analysis, replication between cohorts. In evaluating these outcomes between the behavioral doses (20mg/kg and 40mg/kg) the stress assessment is a good starting point. In looking at Figures 8 and Figure 12, one can begin to see the trend of how corticosterone levels are affected by increases in CBD administration. In Figure 8, a trend can be seen within the 20mg/kg dose group which begins to reduce corticosterone levels after a stressful event, then a continuation of this trend is shown with the 40mg/kg dose group reaching significance; having a significantly lower level of corticosterone present as a result of a stressor when compared to control. This outcome suggests a potential dose

dependent effect, were increases in CBD concentration administered is inversely related to corticosterone levels present after a stressful event. Further analyses are needed to address where these effects may plateau in relation to the concentration of CBD administered.

Next, an evaluation of dose dependent implications for pain assessment. In looking at the output comparing all controls to 20mg/kg dose group (Figure 5), a significant increase in hotplate latency for 20mg/kg dose group is shown on day 10 only. A similar pattern is shown in cohort 3 (Figure 9), but the difference is not significant. An absence of significant pain-like behavior findings may be the result of a smaller sample size, or just issues with the hotplate itself (issue with hotplate stability, and edge heat). When looking at how the 40mg/kg dose group behaved on the hotplate, on average rats had a non-significantly reduced latency time to hotplate response when compared to both control and the 20mg/kg dose group. However, looking at the average for all controls (n=16) the average is very similar to that of the 40mg/kg dose group. These averages would imply that a higher concentration of CBD would not produce an effect. This outcome is slightly puzzling, and not as commonly seen in the literature, but there is some support for it. Nascimentoa et al. (2020) showed a significant increase in hot plate latency for all CBD dose groups compared to control, but 100mg/kg was the only dose significantly different from the other two. It has also been showing using other pain inducing assays (cold stimulus intensity and mechanical stimulus) that the withdrawal latency of 30mg/kg CBD 30mg/kg dose group was the same as control, while 10 and 100mg/kg improved latency (Nascimentoa et al., 2020). The odds to have come across similar outcomes within the hot plate testing, where an improved response to a painful stimulus is shown, and that benefit is lost at a higher dose is slim. A continuation of this experiment into an even higher dose is needed and could be used to see if the same response occurs. Interpretation of the literature is also complicated due to the majority of CBD administration and

pain threshold testing being done in hyperalgesia rodent models, not from healthy rats. These implications will need to be kept in mind when running further assessments of pain.

Looking at the sleep output to address differences that arose with CBD dosing. Looking at figures 6 and 10, across all measures, excluding time spent in an inactive state, in all assessments there is no difference between control, 20mg/kg, or 40mg/kg dose group. As it relates to time spent in an inactive state, 20mg/kg reduces this time regardless of assessment (significant in combined assessment and trending when limited to just cohort 3). However, there is not a decrease in inactivity for the 40mg/kg group, it more closely resembles the control. The implications of these changes occurring at one dose and not the other would be that the 20mg/kg dose group would actually help keep them awake, while 40mg/kg either has no effect, or signifies the potential for this outcome to reverse at higher doses. A potential biphasic effect where low dose CBD can promote wakefulness, and high doses can promote restfulness. Increased wakefulness (Murillo-Rodríguez et al., 2011) and restfulness (Chagas et al., 2013) have both been proposed as potential outcomes of CBD use, but not within the same context or experiment. As Murillo-Rodríguez et al. (2011) looked into c-fos expression in the lateral hypothalamus as a measure of activation that would indicate wakefulness, assessing this same measure at varying dose levels could provide greater insight into this phenomena. Sleep assessments would have to be assessed further but there is potential as it relates to beneficial sleep outcomes.

Lastly, a brief discussion of dosing concerns in regards to the anxiolytic results. In this assessment of control against the 20mg/kg group (Figure 7) a significant reduction is seen across the board on day 10 as a result of CBD administration; less movement, less time in the open arm, and lower entries into the open arm. This pattern continues when looking at strictly cohort 3 (Figure 11). Although the outcomes in cohort 3 may not be significant, only on day ten is a

reduction in movement, open arm entries, and time spent in the open arm as a result of this CBD product seen, both at the 20 and 40mg/kg dose. There is also consistency in produced outcomes overall between this analysis of control against 20mg/kg and cohort 3 results across all days, even with reduced sample sizes. Interestingly, open arm time and entries appears similar between the 20 and 40 mg/kg dose group, while the 40mg/kg group appears to move even less then the 20mg/kg group. Lack of movement complicates further analysis of any potential anxiolytic properties, as that assessment relies on rodent movement. An improvement on this analysis going forward could be to run it only on the 10th day of analysis, or by assessing anxiety using a less movement dependent assay such as novelty induced hypophagia (Dulawa & Hen, 2005). There is potential for any variations between cohorts to be the result of changes in season, handling, timing, and overall power, but these results are primarily similar across cohorts, and most outcomes do align with, and expand upon the literature reviewed .

4.6 Future Directions

Though this project has produced a variety of interesting and meaningful results, there are several future directions that would bolster understanding even more. In regards to the project overall, assessment of different age groups, routes of administration, cannabinoids, and sexes would add additional information to each of the currently produced outcomes and produce a more well-rounded understanding of this compound. Directing more stringent assessment towards weight and temperature in relation to rodent models of Diabetes or Aids, would allow for improved evaluation of CBD's effect on appetite and thermoregulation. This project is also already being expanded within the lab to make assessments of both the microbiome and the brain. These future studies will help improve upon understanding of CBD's potential mechanisms involved with the varying behavioral outcomes, and will help direct work towards improving health outcomes. Pain

sensitivity tests could be improved upon with the inclusion of an induced hyperalgesia group, allowing for improved assessment on varying effects caused different CBD doses. Sleep outcomes could be supplemented by introducing a sleep disturbance to the assay, allowing for an assessment of the potential of CBD to act as a sleep-inducing agent, not a wake inducing one. It would also be interesting in regards to anxiety like outcomes to delay the initial assessment, to parse out any potential learning effects, from the effects of the drug. There is also potential to assess a plateau or ceiling effect regarding stress response, by including much higher dose groups to assess if corticosterone continues to decrease with an increase in CBD dose. Also, CBD administration over a longer period of time, and potentially including multiple administrations may also improve understanding of how it is processed in the body. Finally, Due to CBD's fat-soluble nature and its rapid elimination through the bloodstream, the effects of CBD may linger longer than this project's current ability to detect it in blood, requiring an improved or different measures of CBD concentration in the body (being directly from tissue, fat, hair etc). This evaluation would allow for greater linkage between behavioral outcomes and CBD bioavailability, providing information to improve therapeutic dosing standards.

4.7 Conclusion

This was the first lab to use this novel hemp derived CBD compound from Ellipse Analytics (Denver, Colorado), to try and establish connections between CBD's bioavailability and the behavioral outcomes that accompany its consumption. This study found that CBD oral administration resulted in potential reduction of pain sensitivity, increased wakefulness over an extended period of time, reduced movement over a limited period of time, and reduced stress response, all relative to the dose administered. There was no observed effect of CBD consumption on weight or body temperature change, but further investigation into higher doses is needed. This study also produced a few findings on the EZM in regards to reduced movement, making evaluation of anxiety like outcomes more problematic. Future projects intend to look at more extensive biological and neurological outcomes, such as microbiome impact, and TRPV1 expression, as a result of the consumption of CBD and other cannabinoids. This research intended to expand the understanding of CBD broadly to better inform the healthcare and economic practices that surround this product. The work here, along with future projects, would help improve upon standards for regulation and consumption within the human population.



Figure 1. CBD sites of interaction, Peres et al. (2018). CBD serves as an inverse agonist and a negative allosteric modulator of CB1 and CB2 receptors. CBD agonistic behavior is shown at receptors TRPV1, PPARγ, and 5-HT1A, and antagonistic behavior is typical on receptors GPR55. Inverse agonism also occurs at GPR3, GPR6, and GPR12. *Grey arrows depict indirect interactions*

Tables and Figures

Figure 2. Timeline of experimental procedures (1) blood draws for pharmacokinetic assessment, (2) the pain and sleep behavioral arm, and (3) the anxiety and stress behavioral arm



2.1 Timeline representation of CBD administration and saphenous blood draws for bioavailability assessment Created with BioRender.com



2.2 Timeline representation of CBD administration and progression through the pain and sleep assays Created with BioRender.com



2.3 Timeline representation of CBD administration and progression through the anxiety and stress assays Created with BioRender.com



Rodent Arrival

Image Legend



Oral Gavage



Saphenous Blood Draw



Sacrifice and Extraction







Elevated Zero Maze

Hot Plate Test

Sleep trial (6 hr)

All Assessments were run 1 hr after receiving oral CBD dose

Created with BioRender.com

Experimental Condition	0mg/kg	5mg/kg	10mg/kg	20mg/kg	40mg/kg	Ν
Cohort 1: Pharmacokinetic	10	10	10	10	10	50
Assessment						
Cohort 2 Pain & Sleep	10	-	-	10	-	20
Cohort 2 Anxiety & Stress	10	-	-	10	-	20
Cohort 3 Pain & Sleep	6	-	-	6	16	28
Cohort 3 Anxiety & Stress	6	-	-	6	16	28
Total Pain and Sleep	16	-	-	16	16	
Total Anxiety and Stress	16	-	-	16	16	
Total						146

Table 1: Sample size per experimental condition

Table 1 displays the number of rats used in each cohort and assessment. 10 rats from each dose group (0mg/kg, 5mg/kg, 10mg/kg, 20mg/kg, and 40mg/kg) were used in the pharmacokinetic assessment, totaling 50 rats. 10 rats from the control (sesame oil) and 10 rats from 20mg/kg dose groups were part of cohort 2 of the pain and sleep assessment totaling 20 rats. In cohort 2 of the anxiety and stress arm, 10 rats from both the control (sesame oil) and 20mg/kg dose groups were used, totaling 20 rats. Cohort 3 of the pain and sleep arm had 6 rats from both 0mg/kg and 20mg/kg dose groups in addition to 16 rats from 40mg/kg dose group, adding up to 28 rats. In cohort 3 of the anxiety and stress assessment, 28 rats were used, including 6 from 0mg/kg and 20mg/kg dose groups and 16 rats from 40mg/kg dose group.

Experimental Analysis	(Cohorts 2+3)	(Cohort 3)
	Fishers z	η_{p^2}
Value Assessed	Dose	Dose
Hot Plate (latency)	0.11 (1) 0.28 (10) .14
Sleep (distance traveled)	0.084	.068
Sleep (# of inactive entries)	0.20	.067
Sleep (latency to first)	0.033	.008
Sleep (total inactive time)	0.35	.096
EZM (distance traveled)	0.057 (1) 0.31 (10) .120
EZM (time in open arm)	0.15 (1) 0.26 (10	.034
EZM (open arm entries)	0.045 (1) 0.29 (10	.074
Restraint Stress	0.24	.239

Table 2: Effect Size Comparisons

Table 2 displays estimates of effect sizes from behavioral experimentation for CBD dose assessment. All Fisher's Z values were calculated using

 $\underline{https://www.campbellcollaboration.org/escalc/html/EffectSizeCalculator-R5.php}, \ and \ \eta_{P^2} \ were produced in SPSS$

Weight



Figure 3.1 Weight percent change by day by dose group. Dose groups displayed are control (sesame oil, n=20), and 20mg/kg (n=20). There was no significant effect of dose [F(1,38)=2.669, P=.111]. However, as Mauchly's test reached significance of P<.001, a Greenhouse-Geisser correction was used, and it was shown as there was a significant difference between days with all rats gaining weight throughout the course of the experiment [F(2.210, 717.051)=427.827, P<.001] Data shown are means \pm SEM.



Figure 3.2 Weight percent change by day by dose group. Dose groups displayed are control (sesame oil, n=12), 20mg/kg (n=12), and 40mg/kg (n=32). There was no significant effect of dose [F(2,53)=.889, P=.417]. However, as Mauchly's test reached significance of P<.001, a Greenhouse-Geisser correction was used, and it was shown that there was a significant difference between days with all rats gaining weight throughout the course of the experiment [F(1.465,77.647)=86.699, P<.001] Data shown are means \pm SEM.

Temperature



Figure 4.1 Means displayed represent temperature (°C) by day by dose group. Dose groups displayed are control (sesame oil, n=20), and 20mg/kg (n=20). No significant difference between dose groups was experienced [F(1,38)= .004, P=.952]. Sphericity not assumed (Mauchly's test P<.001), a Greenhouse-Geisser correction was used, revealing a significant difference between days [F(5.330,467.971)=8.618, P<.001] Data shown are means \pm SEM.



Figure 4.2 Means displayed represent temperature (°C) by day by dose group. Dose groups displayed are control (sesame oil, n=12), 20mg/kg (n=12), and 40mg/kg (n=32). No significant difference between dose groups was experienced [F(2,53)= .266, P=.768]. Sphericity not assumed (Mauchly's test P<.001), a Greenhouse-Geisser correction was used, revealing a significant difference between days [F(7.213,315.800)=2.685, P<.01] Data shown are means \pm SEM.



Figure 5. There is a dose dependent increase in CBD bioavailability with plasma levels peaking between the 1st and 2nd hour post-administration, and significantly decreasing by the 4th hour across all groups. Doses represented are 5mg/kg (n=10), 10mg/kg (n=10), 20mg/kg (n=10), and 40mg/kg (n=10). 5 of 180 blood sample measurements were removed as outliers. Effects were not shown to differ by day [F(2,136)=2.187, P=0.116]. CBD in plasma differed by both dose [F(3,136)=104.512, P<.001] and time [F(2,136)=32.359, P<.001]. Post Hoc testing revealed 40mg/kg was different from all other doses (P<.001). Further, CBD values at hour 4 differed significantly from hours 1 and 2 (P<.001). Data shown are means \pm SEM.



0 and 20mg assessment [data run through SPSS (GEE), graphs generated in Prism]

Figure 6. Hot plate latency (s) by day by dose group. Dose groups displayed are control (sesame oil, n=16) and 20mg/kg (n=16). Two outliers were removed 1, from the control cohort on day 10, and 1 from the 20mg/kg dose group, both for reaching max time. No effect of dose on Day 1 was experienced [Wald χ^2 =.766, P=.381]. However, there was an effect of dose on Day 10 [Wald χ^2 =4.833, P=.028]. Beta weights showed that, on Day 10, the 20 mg/kg dose group had a 6.800 second increase on average in latency in reaction to the hot plate. Mean hot plate latency for 0 mg/kg on Day 10 was 17.733 seconds while mean hot plate latency for 20 mg/kg on Day 10 was 24.533 seconds. Data shown are means ± SEM.

Sleep Assessment



Figure 7.1. Means displayed represent distance traveled (cm) during the sleep assessment by dose group. Dose groups represented are control (sesame oil, n=16) and 20mg/kg (n=16). No significant difference between dose groups was experienced [Wald x^2 =.446, P=.504]. Data shown are means ± SEM.



Figure 7.3. Means displayed represent the cumulative time (s) spent in an inactive state by dose group. Dose groups represented are control (sesame oil, n=16) and 20mg/kg (n=16). There was a significant difference between dose groups [Wald x^2 =7.105, P=.008]. Beta weights showed that the 20mg/kg dose group spent 2923.693 seconds less in an inactive state than 0mg/kg on average. The mean cumulative duration spent in an inactive state for 0mg/kg and 20mg/kg dose groups were 11824.2 seconds and 8900.5075 seconds, respectively. Data shown are means ± SEM.



Figure 7.2. Means displayed represent the number of entries into the state of inactivity by dose group. Dose groups exhibited are control (sesame oil, n=16) and 20mg/kg (n=16). There was no effect of dose group evaluated [Wald x^2 =2.569, P=.109]. Data shown are means ± SEM.



Figure 7.4. Means displayed represent the latency to first inactive state (s) by dose group. Dose groups displayed are control (sesame oil, n=16) and 20mg/kg (n=16). No significant difference between dose groups was shown [Wald x^2 =.068, P=.794]. Data shown are means ± SEM.



Elevated Zero Maze Assessment

Figure 8.1. Graph means represent the distance traveled (cm) througout the Elevated Zero Maze by dose group by day. Dose groups are control (sesame oil, n=16) and 20mg/kg (n=16). On day 1, no significant effect of dose group on the total distance traveled was found [Wald x^2 =.209, P=.647]. However, on day 10 there was a significant difference between the dose groups [Wald x^2 =5.721, P=.017]. Beta weights show that the control (0mg/kg) dose group traveled on average 283.261 cm more in the EZM than the 20mg/kg dose group on Day 10. The average total distance traveled by 0mg/kg and 20mg/kg on Day 10 was 1428.4388 cm and 1145.1781 cm, respectively. Data shown are means ± SEM.





Figure 8.2. Graph means represent the cumulative time (s) spent in the open arm of the EZM by dose by day. Dose groups are control (sesame oil, (n=16) and 20mg/kg (n=16). Significance was not reached for an effect of dose group on Day 1 [Wald x^2 =1.407, P=.236]. However, there was a significant difference between dose groups on Day 10 [Wald x^2 =4.084, P=.043]. Beta weights signify that the control (0mg/kg) group spent on average 16.4 seconds longer in the open arm of the Elevated Zero Maze than the 20mg/kg dose group on Day 10. On average the control group spent 42.095 seconds in the open arm of the EZM, while the 20mg/kg dose group spent 25.6975 seconds. Data shown are means ± SEM.

Figure 8.3. Graph means represent the average number of entries into the open arm of the EZM by dose group by day. Dose groups are control (sesame oil, n=16) and 20mg/kg (n=16). Dose group did not have a significant effect on day 1 open arm entries [Wald x^2 =.125, P=.723]. However, there was a significant difference between dose groups on Day 10 [Wald x^2 =5.217, P=.022]. Beta weights show that 0mg/kg had a mean number of entries that were 3.062 more than the 20mg/kg dose group for the open arm on Day 10. On average, the 0mg/kg dose group entered the open arm of the EZM 7.88 times on Day 10, while the 20mg/kg dose group entered 4.81 times. Data shown are means ± SEM.



Figure 9. Means represent Corticosterone levels (ng/ml) by dose by time of blood draw. Dose groups shown are control (sesame oil, n=16) and 20mg/kg (n=16). 1 outlier was removed from the control recovery time point due to exceeding its z-score threshold. Time of blood draw is expressed by baseline (initial), peak (30 minutes of restraint stress), and recovery (2 hours from baseline). GEE analysis showed that statistical significance was not reached for baseline or recovery measures, [Wald χ^2 =.208, P=.648] and [Wald χ^2 =.000, P=.998] respectively. Corticosterone levels immediately following restraint stress did not reach, but trend towards, significance, with the 20mg/kg dose group appearing to have lower levels than control [Wald χ^2 =3.442, P=.064]. Data shown are means ± SEM.



Cohort 3 (40mg/kg assessment) Figures

Figure 10. Means displayed represent hot plate latency (s) by dose group. Dose groups represented are control (sesame oil, n=6), 20 mg/kg (n=6), and 40 mg/kg (n=16). A single outlier was removed from the control cohort on day 10 due to reaching max time (hot plate cooling), and a single outlier was removed from day 1 of the 40 mg/kg dose group for exceeding the z-score threshold. A repeated measure ANOVA revealed no significant differences between dose groups. [F(2,23)=1.897, P=.173] Data shown are means \pm SEM.

Sleep Assessment



Figure 11.1. Means displayed represent the distance traveled (cm) by dose group. Dose groups represented are control (sesame oil, n=6), 20mg/kg (n=6), and 40 mg/kg (n=16). ANOVA displayed no significance between dose groups [F(2,255)=.906, P=.417]. Data shown are means \pm SEM.



Figure 11.2. Means displayed are number of entries into state of inactivity by dose group. Dose groups are control (sesame oil, n=6), 20mg/kg (n=6), and 40 mg/kg (n=16). ANOVA revealed no significant differences between dose groups [F(2,25)=.894, P=.422]. Data shown are means \pm SEM.



Figure 11.3. Means displayed represent the latency to first inactive state (s) by dose group. Dose groups represented are control (sesame oil, n=6), 20mg/kg (n=6), and 40 mg/kg (n=16). An ANOVA showed no significant differences between dose groups [F(2,25)=0.099, P=0.906]. Data shown are means \pm SEM.

.



Figure 11.4. Means displayed represent the time (s) spent in an inactive state by dose group. Dose groups represented are control, (sesame oil, n=6), 20mg/kg (n=6), and 40 mg/kg (n=16). ANOVA revealed no significant effect of dose on inactivity cumulative duration [F(2,25)=1.323, P=.284]. Data shown are means \pm SEM.
Elevated Zero Maze Assessment



Figure 12.1. Means displayed represent the total distance traveled (cm) by dose group by day. Dose groups consisted of control (sesame oil, n=6), 20mg/kg (n=6), and 40 mg/kg (n=16). After being evaluated, there was no significant effect of dose related to the total distance traveled [F(2,25)=1.706, P=.202]. Data shown are means \pm SEM.

Figure 12.2. Means displayed represent the total time (s) spent in the open arm of the EZM by dose by day. Dose groups evaluated are control (sesame oil, n=6), 20mg/kg (n=6), and 40 mg/kg (n=16). 2 outliers were removed for exceeding our z-score threshold (freezing), a single 40mg/kg rodent on day 1, and a different one on day 10. Within the Omnibus repeated measures ANOVA. there was no significant effect of dose group [F(2,25)=.443, P=.647]. Data shown are means \pm SEM.







Figure 13. 40mg/kg dose of CBD lowered corticosterone levels in response to Stress.

Means represent Corticosterone levels (ng/ml) by dose by time of blood draw. Dose groups shown are sesame oil (control) (n=6), 20mg/kg (n=6), and 40mg/kg (n=16). 1 outlier was removed from the control recovery time point due to exceeding the z-score threshold. Time of blood draw was expressed by baseline (initial), peak (30 minutes of restraint stress), and recovery (2hrs from baseline). A repeated measure ANOVA displayed a significant effect of dose group [F(2,24)=3.773, P<.05] when using the Elisa plate as a covariate. Post Hoc testing revealed the significance between control and the 40mg/kg dose group (P<.05). Planned comparisons showed that there was only a significant difference occurring at peak stress levels between control and 40mg/kg CBD [F(1,19)=5.805, P<.05] Data shown are means ± SEM.



Figure 14. CBD adaptation of general agonistic behavior on the TRPV1 channel, depicted from Patapoutian et al. (2009).

REFERENCES

- Almeida, D. L., & Devi, L. A. (2020). Diversity of molecular targets and signaling pathways for
 CBD. *Pharmacology Research & Perspectives*, 8(6). doi:10.1002/prp2.682
- Almeida, V., Levin, R., Peres, F. F., Niigaki, S. T., Calzavara, M. B., Zuardi, A. W., ... Abílio, V. C. (2013). Cannabidiol exhibits anxiolytic but not antipsychotic property evaluated in the social interaction test. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry*, 41, 30-35. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2012.10.024
- Anand, U., Jones, B., Korchev, Y., Bloom, S. R., Pacchetti, B., Anand, P., & Sodergren, M. H.
 (2020). CBD Effects on TRPV1 Signaling Pathways in Cultured DRG Neurons. *Journal of Pain Research, Volume 13*, 2269-2278. doi:10.2147/jpr.s258433
- Aparicio-Blanco, J., Romero, I. A., Male, D. K., Slowing, K., García-García, L., & Torres-Suárez, A. I. (2019). Cannabidiol Enhances the Passage of Lipid Nanocapsules across the Blood–Brain Barrier Both in Vitro and in Vivo. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 16(5), 1999-2010. doi:10.1021/acs.molpharmaceut.8b01344
- Banchereau, J., & Steinman, R. M. (1998). Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. *Nature,* 392(6673), 245-252. doi:10.1038/32588
- Banks, W. A. (2009). Characteristics of compounds that cross the blood-brain barrier. BMC Neurology, 9(Suppl 1), S3. doi:10.1186/1471-2377-9-s1-s3
- Belendiuk, K. A., Babson, K. A., Vandrey, R., & Bonn-Miller, M. O. (2015). Cannabis species and cannabinoid concentration preference among sleep-disturbed medicinal cannabis users. *Addictive Behaviors*, 50, 178-181. doi:10.1016/j.addbeh.2015.06.032
- Blaustein, J. D. (2011). Nearby Construction Influences the Physiology of Research Animals:
 Beyond Stress Hormones. *Endocrinology*, 152(4), 1197-1198. doi:10.1210/en.2010-1499

- Blessing, E. M., Steenkamp, M. M., Manzanares, J., & Marmar, C. R. (2015). Cannabidiol as a Potential Treatment for Anxiety Disorders. *Neurotherapeutics*, 12(4), 825-836. doi:10.1007/s13311-015-0387-1
- Brown, K. J., Laun, A. S., & Song, Z.-H. (2017). Cannabidiol, a novel inverse agonist for
 GPR12. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 493(1), 451-454.
 doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2017.09.001
- Campos, A. C., Fogaca, M. V., Aguiar, D. C., & Guimaraes, F. S. (2013). Animal models of anxiety disorders and stress. *Revista Brasileira de Psiquiatria*, 35(suppl 2), S101-S111. doi:10.1590/1516-4446-2013-1139
- Campos, A. C., Fogaça, M. V., Sonego, A. B., & Guimarães, F. S. (2016). Cannabidiol, neuroprotection and neuropsychiatric disorders. *Pharmacological Research*, 112, 119-127. doi:10.1016/j.phrs.2016.01.033
- Campos, A. C., & Guimarães, F. S. (2009). Evidence for a potential role for TRPV1 receptors in the dorsolateral periaqueductal gray in the attenuation of the anxiolytic effects of cannabinoids. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry*, 33(8), 1517-1521. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2009.08.017
- Carlini, E. A., & Cunha, J. M. (1981). Hypnotic and antiepileptic effects of cannabidiol. *Journal of clinical pharmacology*, *21*(S1), 417S-427S. doi:10.1002/j.1552-4604.1981.tb02622.x
- Chagas, M. H. N., Crippa, J. A. S., Zuardi, A. W., Hallak, J. E. C., Machado-De-Sousa, J. P.,
 Hirotsu, C., . . . Andersen, M. L. (2013). Effects of acute systemic administration of
 cannabidiol on sleep-wake cycle in rats. *Journal of Psychopharmacology*, *27*(3), 312-316. doi:10.1177/0269881112474524

- Chapillon, P., Patin, V., Roy, V., Vincent, A., & Caston, J. (2002). Effects of pre- and postnatal stimulation on developmental, emotional, and cognitive aspects in rodents: A review. *Developmental Psychobiology*, 41(4), 373-387. doi:10.1002/dev.10066
- Corroon, J., & Felice, J. F. (2019). The Endocannabinoid System and its Modulation by Cannabidiol (CBD). *Alternative therapies in health and medicine*, *25*(S2), 6-14. Retrieved from http://europepmc.org/abstract/MED/31202198
- Costa, B., Trovato, A. E., Comelli, F., Giagnoni, G., & Colleoni, M. (2007). The non-psychoactive cannabis constituent cannabidiol is an orally effective therapeutic agent in rat chronic inflammatory and neuropathic pain. *Eur J Pharmacol*, 556(1-3), 75-83. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2006.11.006
- Crivelaro do Nascimento, G., Ferrari, D. P., Guimaraes, F. S.,, Del Bel, E. A., Bortolanza, M., & Ferreira-Junior, N. C. (2020). Cannabidiol increases the nociceptive threshold in a preclinical model of Parkinson's disease. *Neuropharmacology*, *163*, 107808. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2019.107808
- Dallman, M. F., Akana, S. F., Bell, M. E., Bhatnagar, S., Choi, S., Chu, A., . . . Viau, V. (1999).
 Warning! Nearby Construction Can Profoundly Affect Your Experiments. *Endocrine*, *11*(2), 111-114. doi:10.1385/endo:11:2:111
- Deiana, S., Watanabe, A., Yamasaki, Y., Amada, N., Arthur, M., Fleming, S., . . . Riedel, G.
 (2012). Plasma and brain pharmacokinetic profile of cannabidiol (CBD), cannabidivarine
 (CBDV), Delta(9)-tetrahydrocannabivarin (THCV) and cannabigerol (CBG) in rats and
 mice following oral and intraperitoneal administration and CBD action on obsessivecompulsive behaviour. *Psychopharmacology (Berl), 219*(3), 859-873.
 doi:10.1007/s00213-011-2415-0

- Dulawa, S. C., & Hen, R. (2005). Recent advances in animal models of chronic antidepressant effects: The novelty-induced hypophagia test. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 29(4-5), 771-783. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2005.03.017
- Feinberg, I., Jones, R., Walker, J., Cavness, C., & Floyd, T. (1976). Effects of marijuana extract and tetrahydrocannabinol on electroencephalographic sleep patterns. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 19(6), 782-794. doi:10.1002/cpt1976196782
- Feinberg, I., Jones, R., Walker, J. M., Cavness, C., & March, J. (1975). Effects of high dosage delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol on sleep patterns in man. *Clinical pharmacology and therapeutics*, 17(4), 458-466. doi:10.1002/cpt1975174458
- Ferguson, S. A., & Maier, K. L. (2013). A review of seasonal/circannual effects of laboratory rodent behavior. *Physiology & Behavior*, 119, 130-136. doi:10.1016/j.physbeh.2013.06.007
- Frazer, A., & Hensler, J. G. (1999). Serotonin involvement in physiological function and behavior. In (pp. 263-292): Lippincott-Raven, Philadelphia, Pa, USA.
- Genaro, K., Fabris, D., Arantes, A. L. F., Zuardi, A. W., Crippa, J. A. S., & Prado, W. A. (2017).
 Cannabidiol Is a Potential Therapeutic for the Affective-Motivational Dimension of Incision Pain in Rats. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 8. doi:10.3389/fphar.2017.00391
- Glaser, R., & Kiecolt-Glaser, J. K. (2005). Stress-induced immune dysfunction: implications for health. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 5(3), 243-251. doi:10.1038/nri1571
- Gouveia, K., & Hurst, J. L. (2013). Reducing Mouse Anxiety during Handling: Effect of Experience with Handling Tunnels. *PLoS ONE*, 8(6), e66401.
 doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0066401

- Granjeiro, É. M., Gomes, F. V., Guimarães, F. S., Corrêa, F. M. A., & Resstel, L. B. M. (2011).
 Effects of intracisternal administration of cannabidiol on the cardiovascular and
 behavioral responses to acute restraint stress. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, 99(4), 743-748. doi:10.1016/j.pbb.2011.06.027
- Haj-Dahmane, S., & Shen, R.-Y. (2011). Modulation of the serotonin system by endocannabinoid signaling. *Neuropharmacology*, *61*(3), 414-420. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2011.02.016
- Hakimizadeh, E., Oryan, S., Hajizadeh moghaddam, A., Shamsizadeh, A., & Roohbakhsh, A.
 (2012). Endocannabinoid System and TRPV1 Receptors in the Dorsal Hippocampus of the Rats Modulate Anxiety-like Behaviors. *Iranian Journal of Basic Medical Sciences*, 15(3), 795-802.
- Herkenham, A. B. L. a. M. (1994). Localization of Cannabinoid Receptors and Nonsaturable
 High-Density Cannabinoid Binding Sites in Peripheral Tissues of the Rat: Implications
 for Receptor-Mediated Immune Modulation by Cannabinoids *THE JOURNAL or PHARMACOLOGY AND EXPERIMENTAL THERAPEUTICS*, 268(3), 1612-1623.
- Hložek, T., Uttl, L., Kadeřábek, L., Balíková, M., Lhotková, E., Horsley, R. R., . . . Páleníček, T. (2017). Pharmacokinetic and behavioural profile of THC, CBD, and THC+CBD combination after pulmonary, oral, and subcutaneous administration in rats and confirmation of conversion in vivo of CBD to THC. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, *27*(12), 1223-1237. doi:10.1016/j.euroneuro.2017.10.037

Iannotti, F. A., Hill, C. L., Leo, A., Alhusaini, A., Soubrane, C., Mazzarella, E., . . . Stephens, G. J. (2014). Nonpsychotropic Plant Cannabinoids, Cannabidivarin (CBDV) and Cannabidiol (CBD), Activate and Desensitize Transient Receptor Potential Vanilloid 1 (TRPV1) Channels in Vitro: Potential for the Treatment of Neuronal Hyperexcitability. *ACS Chemical Neuroscience*, *5*(11), 1131-1141. doi:10.1021/cn5000524

- Ignatowska-Jankowska, B., Jankowski, M. M., & Swiergiel, A. H. (2011). Cannabidiol decreases body weight gain in rats: Involvement of CB2 receptors. *Neuroscience Letters, 490*(1), 82-84. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2010.12.031
- Jadoon, K. A., Tan, G. D., & O'Sullivan, S. E. (2017). A single dose of cannabidiol reduces blood pressure in healthy volunteers in a randomized crossover study. *JCI Insight*, 2(12). doi:10.1172/jci.insight.93760
- Javadi-Paydar, M., Creehan, K. M., Kerr, T. M., & Taffe, M. A. (2019). Vapor inhalation of cannabidiol (CBD) in rats. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, 184, 172741. doi:10.1016/j.pbb.2019.172741
- Jesus, C. H. A., Redivo, D. D. B., Gasparin, A. T., Sotomaior, B. B., De Carvalho, M. C., Genaro, K., . . . Da Cunha, J. M. (2019). Cannabidiol attenuates mechanical allodynia in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats via serotonergic system activation through 5-HT1A receptors. *Brain Research*, 1715, 156-164. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2019.03.014
- Jia, Y., McLeod, R. L., & Hey, J. A. (2005). TRPV1 receptor: a target for the treatment of pain, cough, airway disease and urinary incontinence. *Drug news & amp; perspectives, 18*(3), 165-171. doi:10.1358/dnp.2005.18.3.892761

- Joca, S. R. L., Ferreira, F. R., & Guimarães, F. S. (2007). Modulation of stress consequences by hippocampal monoaminergic, glutamatergic and nitrergic neurotransmitter systems. *Stress*, 10(3), 227-249. doi:10.1080/10253890701223130
- Joca, S. R. L., Padovan, C. M., & Guimarães, F. S. (2003). Activation of post-synaptic 5-HT1A receptors in the dorsal hippocampus prevents learned helplessness development. *Brain Research*, 978(1-2), 177-184. doi:10.1016/s0006-8993(03)02943-3
- Kulkarni, S. K., Singh, K., & Bishnoi, M. (2007). Elevated zero maze: a paradigm to evaluate antianxiety effects of drugs. *Methods and findings in experimental and clinical pharmacology*, 29(5), 343-348. doi:10.1358/mf.2007.29.5.1117557
- Kumar, S. Z. a. U. (2018). Cannabinoid Receptors and the Endocannabinoid System: Signaling and Function in the Central Nervous System. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 19(3), 833. doi:10.3390/ijms19030833
- Lee, J. L. C., Bertoglio, L. J., Guimarães, F. S., & Stevenson, C. W. (2017). Cannabidiol regulation of emotion and emotional memory processing: relevance for treating anxietyrelated and substance abuse disorders. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 174(19), 3242-3256. doi:10.1111/bph.13724
- Lee, M., & Hancox, R. (2011). Effects of smoking cannabis on lung function. Expert Rev Respir Med. 2011; 5: 537–46. Expert review of marijuana-induced respiratory inflammation and dysfunction.
- Linares, I. M., Zuardi, A. W., Pereira, L. C., Queiroz, R. H., Mechoulam, R., Guimarães, F. S., & Crippa, J. A. (2019). Cannabidiol presents an inverted U-shaped dose-response curve in a simulated public speaking test. *Brazilian Journal of Psychiatry*, *41*(1), 9-14. doi:10.1590/1516-4446-2017-0015

- Linge, R., Jiménez-Sánchez, L., Campa, L., Pilar-Cuéllar, F., Vidal, R., Pazos, A., . . . Díaz, Á. (2016). Cannabidiol induces rapid-acting antidepressant-like effects and enhances cortical 5-HT/glutamate neurotransmission: role of 5-HT1A receptors. *Neuropharmacology, 103*, 16-26. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2015.12.017
- Lucas, C. J., Galettis, P., & Schneider, J. (2018). The pharmacokinetics and the pharmacodynamics of cannabinoids. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 84(11), 2477-2482. doi:10.1111/bcp.13710
- Machado Bergamaschi, M., Helena Costa Queiroz, R., Waldo Zuardi, A., & Crippa, A. S. (2011). Safety and side effects of cannabidiol, a Cannabis sativa constituent. *Current drug safety*, 6(4), 237-249.
- Malone, D. T., Jongejan, D., & Taylor, D. A. (2009). Cannabidiol reverses the reduction in social interaction produced by low dose Δ9-tetrahydrocannabinol in rats. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, 93(2), 91-96. doi:10.1016/j.pbb.2009.04.010
- Mcpartland, J. M., Glass, M., & Pertwee, R. G. (2007). Meta-analysis of cannabinoid ligand binding affinity and receptor distribution: interspecies differences. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 152(5), 583-593. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0707399
- Meijer, M. K., Sommer, R., Spruijt, B. M., Van Zutphen, L. F. M., & Baumans, V. (2007).
 Influence of environmental enrichment and handling on the acute stress response in individually housed mice. *Laboratory Animals*, *41*(2), 161-173.
 doi:10.1258/002367707780378168
- Monti, J. M. (1977). Hypnoticlike effects of cannabidiol in the rat. *Psychopharmacology*, *55*(3), 263-265. doi:10.1007/BF00497858

- Murillo-Rodríguez, E., Millán-Aldaco, D., Palomero-Rivero, M., Mechoulam, R., & Drucker-Colín, R. (2006). Cannabidiol, a constituent of Cannabis sativa, modulates sleep in rats. *FEBS Letters*, 580(18), 4337-4345. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2006.04.102
- Murillo-Rodríguez, E., Palomero-Rivero, M., Millán-Aldaco, D., Mechoulam, R., & Drucker-Colín, R. (2011). Effects on sleep and dopamine levels of microdialysis perfusion of cannabidiol into the lateral hypothalamus of rats. *Life Sciences*, 88(11-12), 504-511. doi:10.1016/j.lfs.2011.01.013
- Nascimentoa, G. C. d., , D. P. F., , F. S. G., Elaine Aparecida Del Bela, & , M. B., Nilson Carlos Ferreira- Juniora,. (2020). Cannabidiol increases the nociceptive threshold in a preclinical model of Parkinson's disease. *Neuropharmacology*.
- Nicholson, A. N., Turner, C., Stone, B. M., & Robson, P. J. (2004). Effect of Δ-9 Tetrahydrocannabinol and Cannabidiol on Nocturnal Sleep and Early-Morning Behavior
 in Young Adults. *Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology, 24*(3). Retrieved from
 https://journals.lww.com/psychopharmacology/Fulltext/2004/06000/Effect_of_9_Tetra
 https://journalbinol.nd Cannabidiol.11.aspx
- Núñez, J. F., Ferré, P., Escorihuela, R. M., Tobeña, A., & Fernández-Teruel, A. (1996). Effects of Postnatal Handling of Rats on Emotional, HPA-Axis, and Prolactin Reactivity to Novelty and Conflict. *Physiology & Behavior*, 60(5), 1355-1359. doi:10.1016/s0031-9384(96)00225-9
- O'Sullivan, S. E., Sun, Y., Bennett, A. J., Randall, M. D., & Kendall, D. A. (2009). Timedependent vascular actions of cannabidiol in the rat aorta. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 612(1-3), 61-68. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2009.03.010

- Osborne, A. L., Solowij, N., Babic, I., Huang, X.-F., & Weston-Green, K. (2017). Improved Social Interaction, Recognition and Working Memory with Cannabidiol Treatment in a Prenatal Infection (poly I:C) Rat Model. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *42*(7), 1447-1457. doi:10.1038/npp.2017.40
- Padovan, C. M., & Guimarães, F. S. (2000). Restraint-induced hypoactivity in an elevated plusmaze. *Brazilian Journal of Medical and Biological Research*, 33(1), 79-83. doi:10.1590/s0100-879x200000100011
- Pagano, E., Capasso, R., Piscitelli, F., Romano, B., Parisi, O. A., Finizio, S., . . . Borrelli, F. (2016). An Orally Active Cannabis Extract with High Content in Cannabidiol attenuates Chemically-induced Intestinal Inflammation and Hypermotility in the Mouse. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 7. doi:10.3389/fphar.2016.00341
- Pamplona, F. A., Da Silva, L. R., & Coan, A. C. (2018). Potential Clinical Benefits of CBD-Rich Cannabis Extracts Over Purified CBD in Treatment-Resistant Epilepsy: Observational Data Meta-analysis. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 9. doi:10.3389/fneur.2018.00759
- Patapoutian, A., Tate, S., & Woolf, C. J. (2009). Transient receptor potential channels: targeting pain at the source. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, 8(1), 55-68. doi:10.1038/nrd2757
- Pedrazzi, J. F. C., Issy, A. C., Gomes, F. V., Guimarães, F. S., & Del-Bel, E. A. (2015).
 Cannabidiol effects in the prepulse inhibition disruption induced by amphetamine. *Psychopharmacology, 232*(16), 3057-3065. doi:10.1007/s00213-015-3945-7
- Peres, F. F., Lima, A. C., Hallak, J. E. C., Crippa, J. A., Silva, R. H., & Abílio, V. C. (2018). Cannabidiol as a Promising Strategy to Treat and Prevent Movement Disorders? *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 9. doi:10.3389/fphar.2018.00482

- Philpott, H. T., O'Brien, M., & McDougall, J. J. (2017). Attenuation of early phase inflammation by cannabidiol prevents pain and nerve damage in rat osteoarthritis. *Pain, 158*(12), 2442-2451. doi:10.1097/j.pain.00000000001052
- Pivik, R. T., Zarcone, V., Dement, W. C., & Hollister, L. E. (1972). Delta-9tetrahydrocannabinol and synhexl: Effects on human sleep patterns. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 13(3), 426-435. doi:10.1002/cpt1972133426
- Renard, J., Loureiro, M., Rosen, L. G., Zunder, J., De Oliveira, C., Schmid, S., . . . Laviolette, S.
 R. (2016). Cannabidiol Counteracts Amphetamine-Induced Neuronal and Behavioral
 Sensitization of the Mesolimbic Dopamine Pathway through a Novel mTOR/p7086
 Kinase Signaling Pathway. *The Journal of Neuroscience, 36*(18), 5160-5169.
 doi:10.1523/jneurosci.3387-15.2016
- Resstel, L. B. M., Tavares, R. F., Lisboa, S. F. S., Joca, S. R. L., Corrêa, F. M. A., & Guimarães,
 F. S. (2009). 5-HT1Areceptors are involved in the cannabidiol-induced attenuation of behavioural and cardiovascular responses to acute restraint stress in rats. *British Journal* of *Pharmacology*, 156(1), 181-188. doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2008.00046.x
- Russo, E. B., Burnett, A., Hall, B., & Parker, K. K. (2005). Agonistic Properties of Cannabidiol at 5-HT1a Receptors. *Neurochemical Research*, 30(8), 1037-1043. doi:10.1007/s11064-005-6978-1
- Shepherd, J. K., Grewal, S. S., Fletcher, A., Bill, D. J., & Dourish, C. T. (1994). Behavioural and pharmacological characterisation of the elevated "zero-maze" as an animal model of anxiety. *Psychopharmacology*, *116*(1), 56-64. doi:10.1007/BF02244871

- Silveira, J. W., Issy, A. C., Castania, V. A., Salmon, C. E. G., Nogueira-Barbosa, M. H.,
 Guimarães, F. S., . . . Bel, E. D. (2014). Protective Effects of Cannabidiol on Lesion-Induced Intervertebral Disc Degeneration. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(12), e113161.
 doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0113161
- Sommer, C. (2004). Serotonin in Pain and Analgesia: Actions in the Periphery. *Molecular Neurobiology*, *30*(2), 117-126. doi:10.1385/mn:30:2:117
- Sorge, R. E., Martin, L. J., Isbester, K. A., Sotocinal, S. G., Rosen, S., Tuttle, A. H., . . . Mogil, J.
 S. (2014). Olfactory exposure to males, including men, causes stress and related analgesia in rodents. *Nature Methods*, 11(6), 629-632. doi:10.1038/nmeth.2935
- Starowicz, K., Cristino, L., & Di Marzo, V. (2008). TRPV1 Receptors in the Central Nervous System: Potential for Previously Unforeseen Therapeutic Applications. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*(14), 42-54.
- Stott, C. G., White, L., Wright, S., Wilbraham, D., & Guy, G. W. (2013). A phase I study to assess the single and multiple dose pharmacokinetics of THC/CBD oromucosal spray. *European Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 69(5), 1135-1147. doi:10.1007/s00228-012-1441-0
- Taylor, L., Gidal, B., Blakey, G., Tayo, B., & Morrison, G. (2018). A Phase I, Randomized,
 Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Single Ascending Dose, Multiple Dose, and Food
 Effect Trial of the Safety, Tolerability and Pharmacokinetics of Highly Purified
 Cannabidiol in Healthy Subjects. *CNS Drugs*, *32*(11), 1053-1067. doi:10.1007/s40263-018-0578-5

- Thomas, A., Baillie, G. L., Phillips, A. M., Razdan, R. K., Ross, R. A., & Pertwee, R. G. (2007).
 Cannabidiol displays unexpectedly high potency as an antagonist of CB1 and CB2
 receptor agonists in vitro. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, *150*(5), 613-623.
 doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0707133
- Todd, S. M., Zhou, C., Clarke, D. J., Chohan, T. W., Bahceci, D., & Arnold, J. C. (2017).
 Interactions between cannabidiol and Δ9-THC following acute and repeated dosing:
 Rebound hyperactivity, sensorimotor gating and epigenetic and neuroadaptive changes in the mesolimbic pathway. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, 27(2), 132-145.
 doi:10.1016/j.euroneuro.2016.12.004
- Toukh, M., Gordon, S. P., & Othman, M. (2014). Construction Noise Induces Hypercoagulability and Elevated Plasma Corticosteroids in Rats. *Clinical and Applied Thrombosis/Hemostasis, 20*(7), 710-715. doi:10.1177/1076029613483168
- Tsou, K., Brown, S., Sañudo-Peña, M. C., Mackie, K., & Walker, J. M. (1998). Immunohistochemical distribution of cannabinoid CB1 receptors in the rat central nervous system. *Neuroscience*, 83(2), 393-411. doi:10.1016/s0306-4522(97)00436-3
- Valvassori, S., Bavaresco, D. V., Scaini, G., Varela, R. B., Streck, E. L., Chagas, M. H., . . .
 Quevedo, J. (2013). Acute and chronic administration of cannabidiol increases
 mitochondrial complex and creatine kinase activity in the rat brain. *Revista Brasileira de Psiquiatria, 35*(4), 380-386. doi:10.1590/1516-4446-2012-0886
- Valvassori, S., Elias, G., De Souza, B., Petronilho, F., Dal-Pizzol, F., Kapczinski, F., . . . Crippa, J. A. (2011). Effects of cannabidiol on amphetamine-induced oxidative stress generation in an animal model of mania. *Journal of Psychopharmacology*, 25(2), 274-280. doi:10.1177/0269881109106925

- Vučković, S., Srebro, D., Vujović, K. S., Vučetić, Č., & Prostran, M. (2018). Cannabinoids and
 Pain: New Insights From Old Molecules. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 9.
 doi:10.3389/fphar.2018.01259
- White, C. M. (2019). A Review of Human Studies Assessing Cannabidiol's (CBD) Therapeutic Actions and Potential. *The Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 59(7), 923-934. doi:10.1002/jcph.1387
- Zhornitsky, S., & Potvin, S. (2012). Cannabidiol in Humans—The Quest for Therapeutic Targets. *Pharmaceuticals*, 5(5), 529-552. doi:10.3390/ph5050529
- Zieba, J., Sinclair, D., Sebree, T., Bonn-Miller, M., Gutterman, D., Siegel, S., & Karl, T. (2019).
 Cannabidiol (CBD) reduces anxiety-related behavior in mice via an FMRP-independent mechanism. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, *181*, 93-100.
 doi:10.1016/j.pbb.2019.05.002

ABSTRACT

ORAL CBD ADMINISTRATION: ASSESSING BIOAVAILABILITY AND BEHAVIORAL OUTCOMES IN A RODENT MODEL

by

JORDAN SKULLY

August 2021

Co-advisors: Dr. Susanne Brummelte & Dr. Scott Bowen

Major: Psychology (Behavioral & Cognitive Neuroscience)

Degree: Master of Arts

There has been a recent surge in popularity for cannabidiol (CBD), a major nonpsychotropic constituent of cannabis, due to numerous claims of potential therapeutic properties, which include, but are not limited to, anxiolytic, antinociceptive, and anti-inflammatory effects. However, as previous scientific literature on CBD's effectiveness in providing such therapeutic effects is limited, this project was aimed to evaluate the potential beneficial properties of a hemp derived 99% pure CBD compound provided from Ellipse Analytics (Denver, CO) in a rodent model. We analyzed the pharmacokinetics of this CBD product as well as the behavioral outcomes after acute and chronic administration. Pharmacokinetics of CBD were assessed by administering CBD to adult male rats (n=10/group) using oral gavage at 0, 5, 10, 20 or 40 mg/kg in sesame oil for 10 days while drawing blood 1hr, 2hr, and 4hrs post administration on the 1st, 5th and 10th day to measure plasma CBD levels. In a second and third cohort of rats (n=6-16/group), CBD was administered by oral gavage at a 0, 20, or 40 mg/kg in sesame oil over 10 days, with behavioral assays being run on the 1st, 5th, and 10th day to assess outcomes associated with pain response, sleep behavior, anxiety response, and stress levels. Our results showed a dose dependent increase in CBD bioavailability with plasma levels peaking between the 1st and 2nd hour postadministration, and significantly decreasing by the 4th hour across all groups. There was a minimal effect of CBD on sleep, pain, and anxiety-like outcomes, however 40 mg/kg CBD significantly decreased corticosterone levels during restraint stress as compared to controls. These findings provide evidence for a potential therapeutic effect of CBD on hypothalamic pituitary axis function and thus stress regulation. Further analysis is necessary to assess the potential for dose dependent increases in overall therapeutic effectiveness with acute or prolonged exposures in males and females.

AUTOBIOGRAPHICAL STATEMENT

I am a doctoral student finishing his third year in the Behavioral and Cognitive Neuroscience program as a part of the Psychology department at Wayne State University (WSU). I arrived at WSU with a Bachelor's of Science in Neuroscience from Alma College where my studies focused on both the Biochemical and Psychological disciplines. My final two years at Alma honed in my research interests and prepared me for my time at WSU. As a first-generation college student of African American descent, I was graciously awarded the Dean's Diversity Fellowship at WSU, a program designed to attract new doctoral students with minority backgrounds. This award, along with the tutelage of my advisors Dr. Susanne Brummelte and Dr. Scott Bowen, has allowed me to design my graduate research path around the behavioral and neurochemical influences of cannabinoid use.

My research, though stymied through COVID-19 complications, has started to bear multiple opportunities that I am deeply grateful for. I have presented my research locally, (Graduate poster sessions, Drug and Alcohol Research Network, and Graduate School Research Symposium) as well as at international conferences (International Behavioral Neuroscience Society (IBNS), Society for Neuroscience (SFN)). I plan to use the opportunities that WSU has given me, such as research collaboration or my Barber Fellowship, to not only produce quality research, but to guide my career goals as well. While expanding upon my research portfolio during my time at Wayne State, I will be continuously looking forward to understanding new concepts and exploring new research relevant techniques. Though there is always more to learn, the support from those around me in what I have done, and what I hope to do, is unmatched. This support has set the foundation for me to develop into the research professional I desire to be, and I could not be more thankful.